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Section I - Management review 2021 

1 Company profile 
In August 2020, IGEA Pharma N.V. ("IGEA")  entered a letter of intent, binding in terms, with Blue Sky Natural Resources 
LTD (“BSNR”), to combine the two companies’ businesses (the "Business Combination"). The combination aims to create 
an EU headquartered and SIX-listed company with an innovative early-stage commercial portfolio of health prevention, 
pharma, nutraceutical, and cosmeceutical solutions focused on high quality featured cannabidiol (CBD), terpenes, 
policosanol, and plant sterols. The combination has been structured through a contribution in-kind by the BSNR 
shareholders of their ownership in BSNR into IGEA by subscribing IGEA’s newly issued shares. 
On 23 September 2021, IGEA completed the combination by way of a share capital increase from Euro 252,2 to Euro 
3.329,2 thousands by issuing, at par, 307.700.514 new shares with a nominal value of Euro 0,01 each. The new shares were 
issued to the shareholders of BSNR exclusively, against contribution in-kind of 34.188.946 shares in the share capital of 
BSNR, representing 99,38% of the share capital and the votes in BSNR. 
As a result of the transaction, the former BSNR shareholders who exchanged their equity interests for equity interests of 
IGEA own 92 percent of IGEA share capital, thus controlling the listed entity. The transaction qualifies as a reverse 
acquisition and as a business combination, with the consolidated financial statements of IGEA after 1 January 2021 being 
the continuation of the consolidated financial statements of Blue Sky Natural Resources LTD including IGEA and its 
subsidiaries from the executed combination (23 September 2021) onwards. 
Unless the context indicates otherwise, all reference to the ‘Group’ refer to BSNR and its consolidated subsidiaries 
(including IGEA). 
IGEA Pharma N.V. after the Business Combination focuses its activities on highly controlled vegetable matrices and their 
industrial processing to extract cannabidiol ("CBD"), terpenes, polycosanol, and other valuable components with high 
purity standards and dietary supplements and functional food based on artisanal processing methods, traceability and 
transparency of the supply chain, absence of induced genetic manipulation, and control over pollutants. The company 
maintain also the health-tech and med-tech products and devices division. Health-tech products are exclusively 
preventative. IGEA commercializes an Alzheimer’s prevention set (which includes ’Alz1’, an at-home lab test kit to 
measure non-bound copper in the blood and a natural dietary supplement branded ‘Alz1 Tab’ designed to reduce blood 
heavy metals content) and expects to integrate the non-bound copper detection-based pipeline with a diabetes type II 
prevention set in 2021. Non-bound copper is an expected Alzheimer’s and diabetes type II associated biomarker. 
Controlling non-bound copper can contribute to reduce the risk of Alzheimer’s and diabetes type II.  
IGEA is listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange (ticker IGPH) and is headquartered in Hoofddorp, the Netherlands. 

 
2 Operating and financial overview 2021 
Profit and loss 

 
The Group generated marginal revenues of Keur 103,3 for the year ended 31 December 2021 (previous year: Keur 123,7) 
due to the ongoing efforts to establish market acceptance and position for the health prevention solutions offered. 

Cost of sales were Keur 126,2 (2020: Keur 163,9). 
Operating expenses were Keur 1.301,9 (2020: Keur 670,0). The significant increase is mainly due to the impairment charges 
recognized in 2021 on intangible assets (Keur 325,5) and associates (Keur 88,0), related to the full impairment of the rights 
owned by the Group to ensure protection of the e-commerce distribution of ‘Alz1’ in the US, and to the impairment charge 
recorded against the value of the investment in the associate ATI Biotech (in 2020, the impairment charges were limited to 
Keur 102,8). 

Other income recorded in 2021, net of other expenses, was related to certain non-core operations and amounted to Keur 
179,9 (2020: Keur 139,0). 
The EBITDA as adjusted (before any impairment charge, and including the share of net result of associates and joint 
ventures) for the reporting year amounts to Keur -863,8 (2020: Keur -788,8). 
The finance result was positive by Keur 18,4 (compared to a negative impact of Keur 107,4 in 2020), due to the limited 
impact of interests on financial debts and negative exchange rate variances: - Keur -6,5 (2020: Keur -54,1) and Keur -13,3 
(2020: TUSD -53,3) respectively. 
The  net loss for the year 2021 is Keur 1.258,9 (2020: Keur 998,9), representing a basic and diluted loss per share of Eur 
0,0040 (2020: basic and diluted loss per share of Eur 0,0032). 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 
Balance sheet and cash flow 

 
As of 31 December 2021, the Group held total assets of Keur 11.388,3 (2020: 2.513,0), of which Keur 10.261,2 in non-
current assets (2020: Keur 1.007,8) and Keur 1.127,1 in current assets (2020: 1.505,1).The remarkable increase is directly 
linked to the provisional goodwill emerging from the reverse acquisition of IGEA and BSNR (Keur 8.917,5). 
Liabilities were Keur 2.804,8 (2020: Keur 2.047,4) and the total shareholder’s equity was Keur  9.578,7 (2020: Keur 465,5), 
benefiting from a significant increase as a result of the reverse acquisition accounting. 
The cash used during 2021 (net of any exchange difference effects) was Keur 148,9 (2020: Keur 52,3), of which Keur 794,0 
(2020: Keur 1.295,9) used for operations and investing activities, partially compensated by a net cash inflow of Keur 645,1 
from financing activities (2020: Keur 1.243,6). 
Cash and cash equivalents at year’s end is Keur 17,6 (2020: Keur 88,6). The Group ensured additional cash and cash 
equivalents beginning of 2022 necessary to finance its level of activities for at least twelve months. 
  
3 Outlook 2022 

 
Key elements of the Combination strategy include establish market acceptance and position for the offered solutions, 
leverage commercial capabilities and capitalize on the financial leverage and operational synergies to improve return on 
capital and achieve profitability. 
The Combination has been structured through a contribution in-kind by the BSNR shareholders of their ownership in BSNR 
into IGEA by subscribing IGEA’s newly issued shares. The reference value of BSNR has been set by the Board in CHF 
186 million (on a fully diluted and post-money basis). On 28 April 2021, the extraordinary General Meeting of IGEA 
approved, among other agenda items, the resolution of the Board to enter the Combination as required by Dutch law and 
the Articles and resolved to appoint the Board to issue up to a maximum of 309.600.000 new shares at par, reserved for 
issuance to the shareholders of BSNR only, to finalize the Combination. 

BSNR owns 50% of Blue Sky Swisse S.A., a company that has developed a proprietary process for the extraction of CBD 
oil employing Supercritical CO2 technology. 
The Group’s 2022 activity will be focused on the accomplishment of the Combination and the set-up and start of the own 
industrial activities for CBD, terpenes, policosanol, and other vegetable matrices-based extractions with the aim of a market 
launch of the offered solutions for the health prevention, pharma, nutraceutical and cosmeceutical industry in 2023. 

In 2022 the Group will therefore concentrate its efforts on the completion of the production facility in Biasca, Switzerland, 
on the pursuit of the Novel Food certification for its products and on the agreements with specialty distributors to build an 
international network of customers in view of the 2023 release of its CBD extracts. 



 

 

Section II - Corporate Governance 
This Corporate Governance Report follows the SIX Swiss Exchange Directive on Information relating to Corporate 
Governance dated 20 March 2018 and takes into account the Swiss Code of Best Practice for Corporate Governance and 
the Dutch Corporate Governance Code (the ‘Code’). The Company, being Dutch, is not subject to the Swiss Ordinance 
against Excessive Compensation at Listed Joint-Stock Companies. 

 
The Company’s corporate governance principles are laid out in the Articles, in the Board rules (the ‘Board Rules’) as 
adopted and in a set of other directives. The Articles, the Board Rules as well as the other documents building the corporate 
governance framework of the Company can be viewed or downloaded on the Company’s webpage at 
https://www.igeapharma.nl/corporate-governance/. 

 
 

1 Group structure and shareholders 
 

 Group structure 
 

 Operational group structure 

The business was initiated and operated by IGEA Research Corporation (‘IGEA Research’), a company incorporated on 1 
May 2015 under the laws of the State of Florida, US. On 14 December 2017, IGEA, incorporated on 1 December 2017 as 
a private company with limited liability (beslotenvennootshap) under the laws of Netherland, acquired IGEA Research, 
ultimately controlled by the same group of shareholders, to manage the existing business activities in the US and to rollout 
in the EU market under a single holding entity. The Company converted into a public company with limited liability 
(naamlozevennootschap) on 16 March 2018 and changes its legal name to IGEA Pharma N.V. 

IGEA  controls 98,673% of IGEA Research, 2600 SW 3rdAvenue, Suite 350, Miami, FL, 33129, US, having an outstanding 
share capital consisting of 60.000.000 shares without par value. The operations of IGEA Research focuses on 
commercialization in the US territory (delivery of products and services, including the performance of certain laboratory 
analysis). 

On August 8, 2020, IGEA announced the entrance in a letter of intents, binding in terms, with BSNR to combine the two 
businesses. The transaction has been structured as a contribution in-kind by the BSNR's shareholders of at least 75 % of 
the Blue Sky shares into IGEA against newly issued shares in a dedicated  share capital increase of IGEA. For this purpose, 
on April 28, 2021, the extraordinary general meeting of IGEA approved the Business Combination as required by Dutch 
law and resolved to appoint the Board to issue new IGEA's shares at par, reserved for issuance to the shareholders of Blue 
Sky only. On June 30, 2021, IGEA launched an all equity offer to the BSNR shareholders and on July 26, 2021, IGEA 
disclosed the unconditional acceptance of the offer with reference to the minimum threshold of 75% of the shares and the 
votes required to definitively combine the two businesses. 

The Board of IGEA has resolved on a capital increase from EUR 252.188.83,00 to up to EUR 3.329.193,97 by issuing up 
to  307.700.514 ordinary shares with a nominal value of EUR 0,01. Due to the fact that the New Shares were issued to the 
current shareholders of Blue Sky against contribution of kind of their shares in Blue Sky, the Company did not receive any 
proceeds from the issuance of the New Shares. 

The operations of the Group are managed by the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) together with the other Executive Directors 
and the Chief Financial Officer (CFO). 

 
 Listed company 

IGEA is registered in the trade register of the Dutch Chamber of Commerce of  Amsterdam (KamervanKoophandel) under 
number 70212821, with headquarter and registered office is in Siriusdreef 17, 2132 WT Hoofddorp, the Netherlands. Its 
shares have been listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange in Zürich, Switzerland, since 18 December 2018 under the ticker symbol 
‘IGPH’, Swiss Security Number 41217478 and ISIN code NL0012768675. The market capitalization on 31 December 2021 
was CHF 65,1 million. 

 
 Non-listed companies 

As a result of the Business Combination, the former BSNR shareholders who exchanged their equity interests for equity 
interests of IGEA own 92 percent of IGEA share capital, thus controlling the listed entity. The transaction qualifies as a 
reverse acquisition and as a business combination, with the consolidated financial statements of IGEA after 1 January 2021 
being the continuation of the consolidated financial statements of Blue Sky Natural Resources LTD including IGEA and 
its subsidiaries from the executed combination (23 September 2021) onwards. 

Unless the context indicates otherwise, all reference to the ‘Group’ refer to BSNR and its consolidated subsidiaries 



 

 

(including IGEA). 

The list of the consolidated subsidiaries is reported under Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements. 
  
  
 Significant shareholders 
Following shareholders (or group of shareholders) have disclosed a shareholding of 3% or more of the share capital and 
voting rights of IGEA as of 31 December 2021: 

 

 

Prior to the Business 
Combination and the Issuance 

of the New Shares 

Following completion of the 
Business Combination and 

the Issuance of the New 
Shares 

Shareholder / Person subject to the reporting 
obligation Voting rights 

% of voting 
rights 

 

Voting rights 

% of voting 
rights 

Mr. Pierpaolo Cerani, Estoril, Portugal(1) .......................  7,544,849 30.12% 7,544,849 <3% 

Ms. Cristina Canepa, Milan, Italy ...................................  1,700,000 6.97% 1,700,000 <3% 

Negma Group Ltd., Tortola,  
British Virgin Islands(2) .............................................  

170,114 0.67 170,114 <3% 

Mr. Gerardo Caradonna, Lugano,  
Switzerland(3) ............................................................  

14,000 0.06% 101,944,500 30.62% 

Messrs. Andrea Ivancevich and Simone Ivancevich, 
Lecce, Italy(4) ............................................................  

0 0% 53,649,900 16.11% 

Ms. Anna Loraschi, Milan, Italy(5) ..................................  0 0% 45,000,000 13.52% 

Blue Sky Angel Lab Srl., Verona, Italy(6) .......................  0 0% 30,690,000 9.22% 
 
 
Notes: 
(1) Mr. Pierpaolo Cerani, Estoril, Portugal (see "General Information—Founder of the Company") is the beneficial owner of the Shares  

held through C.H.I. B.V., Hoofddorp, the Netherlands. C.H.I. B.V. is directly holding the 7,544,849 Shares (within the meaning of 
article 22 para 3 of the Ordinance of the Swiss Financial Market Supervisory Authority on Financial Market Infrastructures and Market 
Conduct in Securities and Derivatives Trading ("FMIO-FINMA")). Following completion of the Business Combination and the 
issuance of New Shares, Mr. Cerani falls under the 3% threshold. 

 
(2) On April 15, 2021, IGEA entered in to a convertible loan facility with Negma. Pursuant to the terms of this convertible notes facility,  

IGEA may draw within a period of two years from April 15, 2021 onward, a maximum amount of up to EUR 2 million, extendable to  
up to EUR 10 following completion of the Business Combination. For amounts drawn under the convertible notes facility, IGEA  will 
issue to Negma convertible notes with a duration of 12 months. At Negma's discretion, such notes may convert to Shares in IGEA until 
expiry. The conversion price will be equal to 93% of the lowest daily volume-weighted average price of IGEA's Share over the ten (10) 
trading days before (and including) the trading day immediately preceding the conversion date, multiplied by the last exchange rate 
CHF/EUR on the day preceding the conversion as seen on Bloomberg. Following completion of the Business Combination and the 
issuance of New Shares, Negma was issued 170,114 shares in IGEA. According to disclosures filed by Negma (which is calculated 
based on the information available on the day the notification obligation of Negma arose), Negma has a maximum purchase position of 
6,298,549 (being the equivalent of 24.98% of the Company's share capital prior to the business combination). Following completion of 
the Business Combination and the issuance of New Shares, Negma falls under the 3% threshold. 

 
(3) Mr. Gerardo Caradonna, Lugano, Switzerland, holds shares directly as well as indirectly through controlling stakes in All Asset 

Management SA, Luxembourg, Grand Duchy of Luxembourg and Pharma Tech Holding SA, Lugano, Switzerland. In addition, Pharma 
Tech Holding SA holds certain conversion rights equivalent to 184,247 shares in IGEA (being the equivalent to 0.73% of the voting 
rights prior to the issuance of New Shares, or 0.06% of the voting rights following the issuance of the New Shares). 

 
(4) Group of shareholders consisting of Messrs. Andrea Ivancevich and Simone Ivancevich, both in Lecce, Italy. Shares are held directly  

as well as indirectly through controlling stakes in Novenero Srl, Milan, Italy and Step You SA, Lugano, Switzerland. 
 

(5) Ms. Anna Loraschi, Milan, Italy holds shares indirectly through Wealthpro Ltd, London, United Kingdom. 
 

(6) Blue Sky Angel Lab SRL, Verona, Italy holds shares directly as well as indirectly through a controlling stake in ATI Biotech SRL, 
[Naples], Italy. According to information available to the Company, Blue Sky Angel Lab SRL has a broad shareholder base without any 
controlling shareholder or controlling group of shareholders. 



 

 

 
For a comprehensive list of notifications of shareholdings received during 2021 pursuanttoarticle120 of the SwissFederal 
Act on Financial Market Infrastructures and Market Conduct in Securities and Derivatives Trading (FMIA) and its 
implementing ordinances, please refer to the SIX website https://www.six-exchange-
regulation.com/en/home/publications/significant-shareholders.html?companyId=IGEA. 

 

 Cross-shareholding 

There are no cross-shareholdings. 
 

2 Capital structure 
 

 Share capital 
As of 31 December 2021, the issued share capital of the Company was EUR 3.347.225, consisting of 334.472.250 fully 
paid-up shares with a nominal value of EUR 0,01 per share. 

 
 Authorized and conditional share capital 
 
The Swiss law concept of conditional share capital is not known under Dutch law and accordingly, there is no and there 
will be no conditional share capital. The Swiss law concept of authorized capital deviates from the applicable Dutch law. 
The General Meeting, following to a proposal of the Board, or the corporate body so authorized by the General Meeting, 
may resolve to issue shares. This also applies to the granting of rights to subscribe for shares, such as options, but is not 
required for an issue of shares pursuant to the exercise of a previously granted right to subscribe for shares. An authorization 
as referred to above is valid for a fixed term of no more than five years and may each time only be extended for a maximum 
period of five years. 
 
As of 31 December 2021, following authorizations (cumulative and non-substitutive) to issue shares are outstanding: 
 

• with resolution dated 10 October 2018 (then becoming effective as per the date of the executed deed on 14 
December 2018), the General Meeting authorized the Board, within 14 December 2023, to issue up to 12.524.384 
new shares with a par value of EUR 0,01 and to limit or exclude pre-emptive rights in respect thereof; 

 
• with resolution dated 8 January 2020 (then becoming effective as per the executed deed on 26 March 2020), the 

General Meeting authorized the Board, within 26 March 2025, to issue up to 12.524.384 new shares with a par 
value of EUR 0,01 and to limit or exclude pre-emptive rights in respect thereof. 

 
On 28 April 2021, the General Meeting furthermore: 
 

• authorized the Board, within 28 April 2022, to issue, at par, up to 309.600.000 new shares with a par value of 
EUR 0,01, reserved for issuance to the shareholders of BSNR only, against contribution in-kind of their shares 
and votes in BSNR; appointed the Board, within 28 April 2026, to issue up to70.000.000 new shares with a par 
value of EUR 0,01 and to limit or exclude pre-emptive rights in respect thereof. 

 
 Changes in share capital 
On 31 December 2017, the Company had a share capital of EUR 200.001 consisting of 20.000.100 issued shares with a par 
value of EUR 0,01 each. 

 
The General Meeting on 16 April 2018 resolved to increase the Company’s share capital by issuing 4.000.000 new shares 
to perform the acquisition of a further 21,99% of IGEA Research and to restructure the Group’s financial debts. During 
November and December 2018, the Company’s share capital was increased through issuance of 1.048.669 new shares with 
a par value of EUR 0,01 each to perform private placements, with exclusion of any pre-emptive rights of existing 
shareholders. As of 31December 2018, the Company has an issued share capital of EUR 250.488 consisting of 25.048.769 
shares with a par value of EUR 0,01each. 
There were no changes in the Company’s share capital during the years 2019 and 2020. As of 31 December 2020, the 
Company has an issued share capital of EUR 250.488 consisting of 25.048.769 shares with a par value of  EUR 0,01 each. 
As of 31 December 2021, the Company has an issued share capital of  EUR 3.347.225, consisting of 334.722.450 fully 
paid-up shares with a nominal value of EUR 0,01 per share. 
Further information on share capital is provided in note 18 of the consolidated financial statements. 
 
 Shares 
As of 31 December 2021, the Company’s outstanding shares were 334.722.450. The only class of shares is ‘ordinary shares’ 
without any special right attached to them. Furthermore, there are no special shareholders rights for any of the shareholders 
of the Company. Each share carries one vote and is entitled to dividends if the General Meeting resolves in favour of a 
dividend payment. 

 



 

 

Upon issue of shares, the existing shareholders have a pre-emptive right in proportion to their existing shareholding except 
(i) for shares issued to employees of the Company or a Group company, (ii) share issued against payment other than in cash 
and (iii) shares issued to persons exercising a previously granted right to subscribe for shares. Pre-emptive rights may be 
restricted or excluded by a resolution of the General Meeting at the proposal of the Board, or by the Board if and to the 
extent the Board has been designated by the General Meeting to resolve to issue shares and to restrict or exclude pre- 
emptive rights hereto. Such resolution of the General Meeting requires a majority of at least two-thirds of the votes cast, if 
less than 50% of the issued and outstanding share capital is represented at the General Meeting. The designation of the 
Board will only be valid for a specific period and may from time to time be extended by the General Meeting, in each case 
not exceeding five years. Unless provided otherwise in the designation, the designation cannot be withdrawn by the General 
Meeting. 

 
The Shares are in registered form (op naam). No share certificates (aandeelbewijzen) are or may be issued. The Board 
keeps a shareholder register. For shares as referred to in the Dutch Act on Securities Transactions by Giro (Wet 
giraaleffectenverkeer), as the shares of the Company are, only the name and address of the intermediary or the central 
institute shall been tered in the shareholders register, stating the date on which those shares became part of such collective 
depot or giro depot, the date of acknowledgement by or giving of notice to, as well as the paid-up amount on each share. 
As of 31 December 2021, Euroclear Nederland as the central institute which keeps the shares in its collective depot, is the 
only shareholder registered in the Company's shareholder’s register. 

 
 Transfer of shares 
The shares are freely transferable and no limitations on transfer restrictions apply. The transfer of book-entry rights 
representing deposit shares shall be made in accordance with the provisions of the Dutch Act on Securities Transactions by 
Giro. The booking of the shares in the share account of the acquirer is sufficient for the transfer of the shares. The same 
applies to the establishment of a right of pledge and the establishment or transfer of a right of usufruct on these book-entry 
rights. 

 
 Participation certificates and profit-sharing certificates 
The Company has not issued any non-voting securities, such as participation certificates or profit-sharing certificates, nor 
has it issued any preference shares or any similar instruments under Dutch law. 

 
 Convertible bonds, options, and warrants 
As of 31 December 2021, following rights on the Company’s securities are outstanding: 

 
From 1 January 2021 onward and until the date of disclosure of this Annual Report, following rights on the Company’s 
securities are outstanding: 

 
• commitment of Negma Group Ltd. to subscribe within a period of two years from 15 April 2021 onward (and 

subject to IGEA’s draw downs) non-interest-bearing, convertible notes for up to Euro 2 million, extendable up 
to Euro 10 million in case of completion of the combination. Based on current information available, for Euro 2 
million commitment, Negma Group Ltd owns rights to convert up to 6.307.692 newly issued shares in the share 
capital of IGEA. 

 
 
3 Board of directors 

 
 Members 
Since beginning of 2020, IGEA has a one-tier governance structure with a board of directors (the ‘Board of Directors’ or 
‘Board’) consisting of executive directors (the ‘Executive Directors’) and non-executive directors (the ‘Non-executive 
Directors’, and jointly with the Executive Directors, the ‘Directors’), substituting the former two-tier structure with a 
supervisory board and a management board. 

 
The following table sets out information with respect to each Director as of 31 December 2021: 

 
 
Name 

 
Nationality 

Year of 
birth 

 
Position 

First 
elected 

Elected 
until 

Francesco Mario Patrocollo Italian/Swedish 1942 Vice chairman, non-
executive 

2020 2024 

Giovanna Puppo Italian 1973 Chairman non-executive 2021 2024 
Massimiliano Colella Italian 1968 non-executive 2021 2024 
Raffaele Bertoni Italian 1965 non-executive 2021 2024 
Lieven Baten Belgian 1981 non-executive 2020 2024 
Vincenzo Moccia Italian 1960 executive, CEO; Interim 

CFO 
2018 - 

Rosanna Squitti Italian 1968 executive, CSO 2018 - 



 

 

 
Professional back ground and other activities and functions of the Directors is as follow. All Non-executive Directors meet 
the independence requirements established by the Dutch Corporate Governance Code and unless stated otherwise, they 
have no significant business relationship with IGEA: 
 
Francesco Mario Patrocollo is a business consultant. Mr. Patrocollo’s career spans the full range from Rx 
pharmaceuticals, through OTC medication to FMCG. His career began in advertising with McCann Eriksson, progressing 
through hands-on marketing with companies and brands that are household names: Colgate, Wilkinson, Mars and Vicks. 
He has held many senior positions, including member of the executive committee at Nobel Consumer Goods (Stockholm), 
senior vice president at Nordbanken (Stockholm), divisional president at Hackman (Helsinki), regional president at 
Pharmacia (Milan) and director (Europe) at Boots Healthcare International. Mario led many successful reorganisations and 
acquisitions projects. Currently, Mr. Patrocollo is engaged in following activities outside IGEA: Walgreens Alliance Boots 
group, various positions as advisor to the co COO, chairman, managing director and strategic leadership team member; 
InterPharma Investments LTD, chairman; Marbea International, partner; 
Massimiliano Colella is a Manager with a long experience in different Industries. His career spans from his actual charge 
as Group Chief Executive Officer based in Dubai UAE of EVERCARE GROUP Management LTD-  a TPG Company;  
SMITH & NEPHEW Executive VP &President Europe, Middle East and Africa  based in Switzerland; JOHNSON & 
JOHNSON MEDICAL Regional Managing Director Medical Devices& Diagnostics CEE– based in Prague (CZ);  
Giovanna Puppo della Gherardesca with a solid professional and academic background, gained in her over 25-year career 
(of which the last 10 as partner of the law firm Gianni & Origoni), concentrates her practice on corporate finance, private 
equity and M&A, often involving listed companies and financial institutions. She accrued significant experience in 
transnational transactions, in assisting investment funds, banks and primary Italian and multinational companies, in 
negotiating acquisition agreements, joint ventures, investment agreements and shareholders’ agreements, and in assisting 
clients in their development strategies abroad. She worked as visiting professor at the Politecnico di Milano and the Scuola 
Superiore della Pubblica Amministrazione (post-graduate school of public administration) and cooperated with 
Confindustria and Borsa Italiana. She is recognized as leading lawyer in corporate law and recently she has been involved 
in significant arbitrations and disputes on matters of corporate law and private equity. Admitted to the Italian Bar since 
2000. She speaks Italian, English, French and German; 
Raffaele Bertoni Fixed Income portfolio manager with more than 25 years of working experience in leading international 
asset managers, insurance companies and banks. Relevant results achieved in terms of: a) leading fixed income teams 
involved  in the portfolio management of a wide range of bond strategies rated 5 or 4 stars by Morningstar Inc.; b) defining 
successful and repeatable investment process able to optimize risk adjusted return as required by institutional investors; c) 
developing the institutional client base supporting International Sales and Distribution in promoting products and 
capabilities; d) designing innovative fixed income funds and strategies able to meet market trends and opportunities as well 
as  client’s objectives; e) Building effective communication channels with existing and potential clients in order to provide 
transparency on portfolio strategies and potential market opportunities. Actually, since 2011 Gulf Investment Corporation 
(GIC)  – Kuwait City Head of Debt Capital Market – Senior Portfolio Manager; 
Lieven Baten holds a degree in gerontology from the Free University in Brussels, Belgium. Former activities were in Bona 
Dea International Hospital, COO; Nursing home Ziverlinde, Board Member; Nursing home De Kleine Kasteeltjes, director; 
Hict, business development consultant; College of Ghent, Lector. Currently, Mr. Baten is engaged in following activities 
outside of IGEA: Acalis EMEIA (Riyadh), partner; ZAMR (Belgium), CEO and founder; 
Vincenzo Moccia holds a degree in business administration from Sapienza University of Rome, Italy. Former 
activitiesandfunctionswereinMVYachtingS.r.l.,PresidentandOwner;LeopardYachtsS.r.l.,CEO;AzimutBenetti  
.p.A.,Sales&MarketingDirector;CamuzziNauticaS.p.A.,Sales&MarketingDirector;ChristianDiorItaliaS.r.l., General 
Manager; Gucci Italia S.p.A., District Manager North Italy; Bulgari Italia S.p.A, Retail Senior Director; Bulgari S.p.A, 
various positions; American Express Co. S.p.A. and Mercedes Benz Finanziaria S.p.A., various positions. Currently, Mr. 
Moccia is not engaged in other activities outside of IGEA; 
Rosanna Squitti holds a degree in Biology as well as a PhD in Cellular and Developmental Biology from Sapienza 
University of Rome, Italy and a post-doc degree in Molecular Biology from the University of Liverpool, UK. Former 
activities and functions were in CNR (National Research Council Italy), Associated Researcher; IGEA Research 
Corporation, Consultant; Leonard M. Miller School of Medicine, University of Miami, Visiting Professor of Neurology; 
Canox4drug S.p.A., Consultant; IRCCS (Italian Research Hospital) San Raffaele Pisana, Consultant; "Campus Bio-
medico" University of Rome, Department of Neurology; Head of Laboratory of Neurobiology and Professor in 
Neurochemistry and Neuroimmunology and Sapienza University of Rome, Department of Cellular and Developmental 
Biology, Research Assistant and Graduate Teaching Assistant. Currently Mrs. Squitti is engaged in following activities 
outside of IGEA: IRCCS (Italian Research Hospital) Istituto Centro San Giovanni di Dio, Researcher Molecular Markers 
Laboratory; Ospedale Fatebenefratelli San Giovanni Calibita, Department of Neuroscience, Head of Laboratory of 
Neurobiology. 

 
 Other activities and vested interests 
None other than described above for all Directors. 

 
 Changes 
During 2021, the Board changed as follows: 



 

 

 
On 28 April 2021 the Extraordinary General Meeting appointed the new Board Member following to a binding nomination 
by the Board as follows:  

• Giovanna Puppo della Gherardesca as Non-executive Director;  
• Massimiliano Colella as Non-executive Director;  
• Raffaele Bertoni as Non-executive Director. 

 

From 31 March 2022 and until the date of disclosure of this Annual Report, the Board changed as follow: 
 

• Giovanna Puppo, Massimiliano Colella, Raffaele Bruto Bertoni  and Lieven Baten resigned from their role as 
Non-executive Directors on 31 March 2022. 

 
 Appointment, terms of office and removal 
Directors are appointed as such by a resolution of the General Meeting on a binding nomination by the Board. The General 
Meeting may at any time overrule binding nominations and appoint on a free basis by a two-thirds majority of the votes 
cast representing more than 50% of the issued share capital. If binding nominations are overruled, the General Meeting 
may appoint on a free basis in a second convened General Meeting on simple majority of the votecast. 

 
Directors are appointed for a term of four years (a year being normally the period from the appointment to the annual 
General Meeting held in the year after the year of appointment), unless specified otherwise in the nomination for their 
appointment. Reappointment is allowed. 

 
The General Meeting may at any time suspend or dismiss a Director. A resolution to suspend or dismiss a Director other 
than at the proposal of the Board requires a two-thirds majority of the votes cast representing more than 50% of the issued 
share capital and if no such resolution can be adopted, by simple majority of the vote cast in a second convened General 
Meeting. The Board may always suspend but not dismiss a Director. A General Meeting must be held within three months 
after the suspension of a Director has taken effect, in which meeting a resolution must be adopted to either dismiss the 
Director or to terminate or continue the suspension. If no such resolution is adopted, the suspension will cease after the 
period of suspension has expired. The suspended Director is entitled to be heard at the General Meeting. A suspension of a 
Director may, at any time, be discontinued by either the Board or the General Meeting with a two-thirds majority of the 
votes cast representing more than 50% of the issued share capital. 

 
 Internal organizational structure 
The Board is the ultimate governing body of the Company. It is responsible for the management of the Company's 
operations as well as the operations of the Group. This includes, among other things, setting the Company's management 
agenda, enhancing the Group's performance, developing a general strategy, identifying, analyzing and managing the risks 
associated with the Company's strategy and risks connected to the Group's business activities, determining and pursuing 
operational and financial objectives, structuring and managing internal business control systems, overseeing the Group's 
financial reporting processes, preparing the Company's management report, the annual budget and significant capital 
expenditures and monitoring corporate social responsibility issues. The Board attends to all matters which are necessary or 
useful for achieving the Company's objectives, except for those acts that are prohibited or are expressly attributed by law 
or by the Articles to others. In performing their duties, the Directors are guided by the interests of the Company and its 
business enterprise, taking into consideration the interests of all the Group’s stakeholders. 

 
The Board appoints a chairman among its Non-executive Directors and the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) among its 
Executive Directors. The Board may grant other titles to its Executive Directors as it may deem fit. The day-to-day 
management of the Company shall be entrusted to the Executive Directors. The task to supervise the performance by the 
Directors of their duties cannot be taken away from the Non-executive Directors. The chairman shall ensure the properand 
independent functioning of the Board and of the other bodies of the Company. 

 
Pursuant to the Articles, the Board may adopt written rules (the ‘Board Rules’) governing, among other things, its decision- 
making process including specification of how duties are divided between the Directors. The Board Rules shall not conflict 
with the law and the Articles. Furthermore, the Board may designate one or more of its Directors to exercise one or more 
of its powers or activities. The Board Rules as adopted are published on the Company’s website under 
https://www.igeapharma.nl/corporate-governance/. 

 

The Board must obtain the approval of the General Meeting for resolutions entailing a significant  change in the identity or 
character of the Company or its associated business enterprise, including in any event: (i) the transfer of the business 
enterprise, or practically the entire business enterprise of the Company, to a third party;(ii) concluding or cancelling along-
lasting cooperation of the Company or a subsidiary with another legal person or company or as fully liable general partner 
in a partnership, provided that the cooperation or cancellation is of material significance to the Company; and(iii)acquiring 
or disposing of a participating interest in the capital of a company with a value of at least one-third of the   Company’s 
assets, as shown in the consolidated balance sheet with explanatory notes according to the last adopted annual accounts by 
the Company or one of its subsidiaries. 

 



 

 

The Board as a whole or two executive Director acting jointly are authorized to represent the Company. The Board may 
authorize one or more persons to represent the Company on a continuing basis whether or not employed by the Company 
and may grant these persons a title. 

 
The Board meets at least four times pursuant to an annually set schedule or at any Director’s request. Resolutions may only 
be adopted when at least the majority of the Directors is present or represented at the meeting, provided that any Director 
with a direct or indirect personal conflict of interest (as specified in the Board Rules) with the Company, is not taken into 
account when establishing this quorum. Each Director has one vote. An Executive Director may grant another Executive 
Director a written proxy to represent him at a Board meeting. Non-executive Directors cannot be represented in this manner. 
Resolutions may also be adopted without holding a meeting, provided that such resolutions are adopted in writing or by 
reproducible electronic communication, and all Directors entitled to vote have consented to adopting there solutions without 
holding a meeting. Where the law, the Articles or the Board Rules do not prescribe otherwise, resolutions are adopted by a 
majority of votes cast. In the event of a tie vote, the resolution is rejected. 

 
The Board appointed by the General Meeting on 28 April 2021 entered in charge on same date and meet six times during 
2021. On 23 April 2021, the Board met to organize itself, including the creation of committees, to resolve on the adoption 
of the new Board Rules and to update certain other documents being part of the Company’s governance framework.  

 
 Information and control system 
The Board ensures that it received all necessary information to perform its duties and to make decisions that are reserved 
for the executive management. The CEO informs the chairman of the Board on a regular basis about significant matters 
involving the Group and the Group’s business. 

 
 Committees 
The Board has established an audit committee and a nomination and remuneration committee. The committees have a 
preparatory and/or advisory role to the Board. The Board Rules drew up rules on each committee's role, responsibilities, 
andfunctioning.ThecommitteesreporttheirfindingstotheBoard,whichisultimatelyresponsibleforalldecision-making. 
Membership of the committees as of 31 December 2021 is as follows: 

 
 
Name 

 
Position 

 
Audit committee 

Nomination and 
comp. committee 

Francesco Mario Patrocollo Vice-chairman - chair 
Massimiliano Colella non-executive - member 
Raffaele Bertoni non-executive chair - 
Giovanna Puppo non-executive member - 
Lieven Baten non-executive - - 
Vincenzo Moccia executive, CEO - - 
Rosanna Squitti executive, CSO - - 

 
Camillo Ricordi, member of the audit committee, resigned from his role as non-executive directors on 4 March 2021.  

 
Audit Committee 
The audit committee oversee the accounting and financial reporting processes and the internal risk management and control 
system and prepares the Board’s decision making thereof. The audit committee focuses on, among otherthings: 

 
 the provision of financial information by the company (choice of accounting policies, application and assessment of 

the effects of new rules, information about the handling of estimated items in the financial statements, forecasts, work 
of internal and external auditors, etc.); 

 the internal risk management and control systems, including supervision of the enforcement of relevant primary and 
secondary legislation, and supervising the operation of the codes of conduct; 

 the relations with the external auditor, including, in particular, his independence, remuneration and any non-audit 
services for the Company and compliance with recommendations and observations of external auditors; 

 the Company’s tax policy; 
 the Company’s funding; 
 the applications of information and communication technology, including risks relating to cybersecurity; 
 annually  reviewing the need for an internal audit function. An internal audit function does for the time being not exists 

since the current scope of the business does not justify such a role. The AC is focused on in the design, implementation 
and monitoring of internal risk management and control system to manage the significant risks to which the Company 
is exposed. 

 
The audit committee met one time during 2021 for discussing the financial statements and the other sections of the half 
year report 2021. 

 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
The nomination and remuneration committee advises the Board in reviewing, approving, or recommending the 



 

 

remuneration policy to be adopted by the General Meeting, including all forms of compensation of the Directors with 
regards to the amount and structure of their own remuneration, and on the remuneration of the individual Executive 
Directors. The nomination and remuneration committee furthermore advised the Board in selecting individuals qualified to 
become directors, in determining the composition of the Board and its committees and in periodically assessing the 
performance of the individual Directors. The nomination and remuneration committee also proposed on appointments and 
reappointments. 

 
The nomination and remuneration committee meet one time during 2021for defining the new remuneration policy. 

 
4 Executive Management 
The Executive Directors together with other officers represents the executive management of the Company 

 
As Patrick Pozzorini resigned from his role as CFO in April 2021, Vincenzo Moccia has been appointed CFO ad-interim. 

 
IGEA does not have management contracts delegating portions of the management to third parties who are not related 
parties to the Group. 

 
5 Compensation, equity holdings and loans 
The Board determines the remuneration of the Directors under due observance of the Company remuneration policy. The 
remuneration policy is adopted by the General Meeting at the proposal of the Board. The remuneration policy of the 
Company in place was adopted by the General Meeting on 3 July 2020 and is available at the Company website under 
https://www.igeapharma.nl/corporate-governance/. 

 

The remuneration policy determines that the remuneration should be in line with standard market conditions as observable 
in listed companies and considering size, scale and complexity of the Group activities. Publicly disclosed data are generally 
used. The Nomination and remuneration committee may consult professional independent remuneration advisors to tabulate 
the remuneration data of peer group companies. The remuneration should be settled in a mix of cash and equity instruments 
of the Company, allowing persons to share in the profits. For the base fixed remuneration and other benefits, the equity 
instruments to remuneration ratio should not exceed 50%. 

 
The remuneration of Non-executive Directors shall be in line with the overall policy, including the remuneration for acting 
as Chairman of the Board or being part of the Committees. Consistent with the Dutch Corporate Governance Code, the 
remuneration of Non-executive Directors should not depend on the Company’s results. Consequently, no performance 
bonuses are to be granted to the Non-executive Directors as part of their remuneration. 

 
The remuneration of Executive directors, officers and other senior management shall consist of a mix between fixed, 
variable, and other benefits remuneration components. The base fixe remuneration shall be in line with the overall policy. 
The variable remuneration is based on performance criteria aimed at value creation in both the short and long term. 

 
Executive Directors, officers or other senior management may be employed under employment agreements or engaged 
under service agreements with the Company or the Group that comply with the law and the relevant jurisdiction. Contracts 
do not contain golden parachute clauses, and none automatically trigger a restraint payment and contains a three months’ 
notice period. 

 
Pursuant to Dutch law, the remuneration of Directors may be reduced, or Directors may be obliged to repay (part of) their 
variable remuneration to the Company if certain circumstances apply. The Board will have the authority under Dutch law  
to recover from a Director any variable remuneration awarded on the basis of incorrect financial or other data in respect of 
underlying targets or other circumstances of which the variable remuneration is dependent (claw back). The Board may 
furthermore adjust the variable remuneration (to the extent that it is subject to reaching certain targets and the occurrence 
of certain events) to an appropriate level if payment of the variable remuneration were to be unacceptable according to the 
requirements of reasonableness and fairness. 

 
 Compensation 
Board 
The compensation of the Executive Directors was respectively for Vincenzo Moccia and Rosanna Squitti, acting as CEO-
CFO (ad interim) and CSO of IGEA, amount to KEUR 60 and KEUR 26,8 for the full year 2021 (previous year: KEUR 
61,7 and KEUR 27,6). The compensation was in fixed form only. No additional fees and remunerations have been charged 
to the Group by any parties closely linked to the CEO or the CSO for additional services during 2021, nor was the CEO or 
the CSO respectively entitled to any fringe benefit. 
Mr Patrocollo received no compensation during 2021 (2020: nil). 
 
 
 

 



 

 

 Ownership of shares and options 
As of 31 December 2021, Directors and key management held following shares ownership: 

Number Voting 
Name Position of shares     rights in% 
Francesco Mario Patrocollo chairman, non-executive 200,000 0.80% 
Vincenzo Moccia executive, CEO 10,000 0.04% 
Rosanna Squitti executive, CSO 600,000 2.40% 
   

 
No options were granted during 2021 or even before to any Directors or to key management. 

 
 Loans granted 
The remuneration policy generally prohibits to provide loans, guarantee or the like to Directors, officers, and other senior 
management except with the approval of the non-executive Directors. To date, no loans were granted. 

 
6 Shareholder’s participation rights 

 
 General meeting and shareholder’s voting rights 
All shareholders as well as other persons with voting rights or meeting rights may attend the General Meeting, address the 
General Meeting and exercise voting rights pro rata to their shareholding, either in person or by proxy. The Board may 
determine that those shareholders may exercise these rights, that are the holders of shares on the record date, which, as 
required by Dutch law, is the 28th day before the day of the General Meeting, and they or their proxy have notified the 
Company of their intention to attend the General Meeting in writing or by any other electronic means that can be reproduced 
on paper at the address and by the date specified in the notice of the General Meeting. 

 
Unless the law or the Articles provides otherwise, resolutions of the General Meeting shall be adopted by an absolute 
majority of votes cast regardless of which part of the issued capital such votes represent. 

 
No voting rights may be exercised for any shares held by the Company or its subsidiaries. The Company or its subsidiaries 
may not exercise voting rights in respect of shares for which it or its subsidiaries have a right of usufruct or a pledge. No 
other voting right restrictions apply to the shares of the Company. Furthermore, there are not procedure and conditions for 
abolishing voting rights restrictions laid down in the Articles. 

 
General Meetings can be held in Amsterdam, Hoofddorp and Haarlemmermeer (Schiphol Airport), the Netherlands. 
Annually, at least one General Meeting must be held, within six months after the end of the financial year. Extraordinary 
General Meetings may be held, as often as the Board of Directors deem desirable. Pursuant to Dutch law, one or more 
shareholders,whosolelyorjointlyrepresentatleastone-tenthoftheissuedcapital,mayrequestthataGeneralMeetingbe convened, 
the request setting out in detail matters to be considered. Within three months of it becoming apparent to the Boardof 
Directors that the equity of the Company has decreased to an amount equal to or lower than one-half of the paid- up part of 
the capital, a General Meeting will be held to discuss any requisite measures. 

 
The General Meeting is chaired by the chairman of the Board or another person charged by the chairman to do so or by a 
Director appointed by the Board of Directors present at the meeting. The chairman will have all powers necessary to ensure 
the proper and orderly functioning of the General Meeting. Directors may attend a General Meeting. In these General 
Meetings, they have an advisory role. The chairman of the General Meeting may decide at its discretion to admit other 
persons to the General Meeting. 

 
 Convocation of general meetings 

General Meeting are convened by notice that must be published through an announcement in a Dutch national newspaper. 
The notice must state the subjects to be considered at the meeting, time and place of the meeting, the record date, the 
manner in which persons entitled to attend the General Meeting may register and exercise their rights, the time on which 
registration for the meeting must have occurred ultimately, as well as the place where the meeting documents may be 
obtained. The notice must be given by at least such number of days prior to the day of the meeting as required by law and 
in accordance with the law and the regulations of any stock exchange where the shares are quoted on the official list. 

 
 Agenda rules 
The agenda for the annual General Meeting must contain certain subjects, including, among other things, the adoption of 
the annual accounts, the discussion of any substantial change in the corporate governance structure of the Company and 
the allocation of profits, insofar as this is at the disposal of the General Meeting. In addition, the agenda shall include  such 
items as have been included therein by the Board or shareholders (with due observance of Dutch law as described below). 
The agenda shall also include such items as one or more shareholders and others entitled to attend General Meetings, 
representing, pursuant to the Articles, at least the percentage of the issued and outstanding share capital as required by law, 
have requested the Company by a motivated request to include in the agenda, no later than on the day prescribed by law. 



 

 

The Board does not place such proposals on the agenda if the Board judges them to be evidently not in the interest of the 
Company. No resolutions may be adopted on items other than those which have been included in the agenda. 

 
7 Changes in control and defense measures 

 
 Duty to make an offer 
In line with Swiss law, which is applicable to IGEA as a Dutch entity since listing to the SIX, theCompany’s shareholders 
(and any direct or indirect holder, acquirer, or seller of shares) are required to comply with the provisions as set forth in 
Articles 125 ss. of the FMIA and pertinent regulations, including FMIO-FINMA Articles 30 ss. and the Ordinance of the 
Takeover Board on Public Takeover Offers of August 21, 2008, as amended (all such laws and regulations, the ‘Swiss 
Tender Offer Laws’). The Swiss Tender Offer Laws provide, among other things, that if a person acquires shares of a 
company, whether directly or indirectly or acting in concert with third parties, which, when added to the shares already 
held by such person, exceed the threshold of 33 1/3% of the voting rights (whether exercisable or not) of such company, 
that person must make an offer to acquire all of the listed shares of that company. A company’s articles of association may 
either eliminate application of the FMIA or may raise the relevant threshold to 49% (“opting out” or “opting up”, 
respectively). The Articles do not contain an opting-out or an opting-up provision. 

 
Since the Dutch rules on public takeovers and mandatory bid rules do not apply to a Dutch company listed at SIX Swiss 
Exchange, no exception applies to the application of Swiss takeover rules and, consequently, mandatory bid rules. 

 
 Clause on change of control 

There are no change-of-control agreements or schemes in place benefiting members of the Board or the Management. In 
particular, no agreements on severance payments in the event of takeover, special provisions on the cancellation of 
contractual arrangements, agreements concerning special notice periods or longer-term contracts exceeding three months 
exist that protect the abovementioned persons in case of take over. 
 

8 Auditors 
 

 Duration of the mandate and term of office of the lead auditor 
The General Meeting on 10 October 2018 (with the resolution becoming effective with the respective deed on 14 December 
2018) elected Mazars Netherlands as Company auditors for a period of four years. The auditor in charge is Mr. Onno 
Opzitter. He assumed his responsibility in December 2018. 

 
 Audit and additional fees 
The total of the auditing fees for the year 2021 amounts to EUR 60,5, of which Mazars, including network firms, in their 
capacity as Group auditors, receive the full amount (2020: EUR 82,1). No additional fees were charged by Mazars for tax 
matters related services (2020: EUR 7,3). 

 
9 Risk management and internal control system 
The business of IGEA is subject to numerous risks and uncertainties. In order to manage risks and offer reasonable 
assurance that the Company's targets can be realized, that the financial information is reliable, and that applicable laws and 
regulations are observed, the Company has adopted and is committed on promoting and maintaining an internal control and 
risk management system. The Board has a control function hereof. 

 
The key risks are those that threaten the achievement of the Company’s corporate objectives. If any of these risks occurs, 
the business, prospects,  operating results and financial condition could suffer materially. The table below focus on the key 
risks and uncertainties the Group currently faces. 

 
 

Risk related to Risk area Expected impact Mitigation actions 

Regulatory approval of the 
products 

The products will not be 
approved for 
commercialization. 

The Group will be unable to 
commercialize products and 
generate revenues and/or will 
generate revenues in a manner 

The Group monitors the 
progress of the approval 
process and relay to qualified 
third party service providers. 

    that negatively affects the    
The regulatory environment 
changes and become averse to 
the Group’s products. 

Group’s business, result of 
operations and/or financial 
condition 

Changes in the regulatory 
environment is outside the 
Group’s control, but this 
generally occur progressively. 

 
 



 

 

Commercialization of the 
products 

The Group faces competition 
at products and technology 
level. 

If competitors develop 
products and/or technologies 
which are more effective, the 
ability of the Group to 
commercialize products may 
be adversely affected. 

Competition is an inherent 
risk for any business. 
Through intellectual property, 
the Group attempt to have 
freedom to operate. 
Development by third parties 
is out of control, but the 
Group monitors the 
competitive landscape. 

 
The Group faces market 
acceptance of its products. 

 
Negative effects from safety, 
quality and efficacy on its 
products or effectiveness of 
competitors’ products could 
adversely affect the Group ‘s 
business. 

 
The Group does not have a 
quality management system in 
place and relay on first class 
suppliers. 

 
 

The Group faces changes in 
consumer habits. 

Changes in health and 
prevention consciousness 
could adversely affect the 
ability of the Group to 
commercialise its products. 

This is an inherent risk for any 
business. The Group monitors 
the social and economic 
stratification of the selected 
and potential markets. 

 
The pipeline of the Group is 
highly concentrated. 

 
If a product fails on the 
market, the Group will be 
unable to commercialize and 
generate revenues. 

 
This is an inherent risk for any 
new started business. The 
Group is looking continually 
for new products and market 
opportunities. 



 

 

 
The Group faces product liability. The Group faces potential liability risks that could This is an inherent 
risk for any business. Cost-benefit analysis is performed before deciding to ensure product liability. 

 
 

Reliance on third parties The Group relay upon third 
party contractors and service 
providers for the execution of 
most of the aspects of its value 
chain (including among others 
regulatory approval; 
manufacturing; distribution 
and communication) 

Failure of third parties to 
provide services of suitable 
quality and quantity may 
cause delay or failure on the 
Group’s commercial program 

The Group relay on first class 
suppliers and review and 
monitors their activities. 

 
 

Capital needs and financial 
position 

Until revenues will not be 
generated in such a way that 
adequate liquidity is ensured 
to finance operating, investing 
and financing activities, the 
Group depends on equity 
and/or debt financing. 

Delays or failures in the 
commercialization roadmap, 
volatility of the Company’s 
share price and concentration 
in the shareholding structure 
are, among others, factors that 
may have a negative impact 
on the Group’s ability to 
obtain future financing. 

The ability to raise funds also 
depends on external factors 
and is not entirely in the 
Group’s control. The Group 
explore the market conditions 
for opportunities to add 
additional funds. 

 
 

 

Intellectual property and 
other similar rights 

The Group depends on certain 
intellectual property rights 
acquire and on intellectual 
property rights that could 
additionally be necessary to 
perform and is subject to the 
risk of infringing third party 
intellectual property rights. 

The Group faces restriction of 
business freedom that could 
adversely affect the ability of 
the Group’s business, result of 
operations and/or financial 
condition. 

The intellectual property is 
managed by specialized 
consultants. Before acquiring 
intellectual properties, 
investigations take place. 



 

 

 
In addition to the above key risks, the Group’s activity and stage expose it to following financial risks controlled pursuant 
to the Group’s risk management. The following sections provide an overview of the extent of the individual risks and the 
goals, principles and process employed to handle these risks: 

 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will face difficulties to meet obligations when due. Liquidity risk management 
implies maintaining enough liquidity in adequate form to meet financial obligations when due. The liquidity sources of the 
Group are represented by its cash and cash equivalents position as of 31 December 2021 of Keur 17 (2020: Keur 89) and 
the additional funds the Group was able to ensure as further described in note 4 ‘Critical estimates and judgements’ of the 
consolidated financial statements, granting herewith the necessary liquidity reserve until revenues will reach – if ever - such 
an adequate level to generate cash in the manner necessary to sustain the Group operation. Consequently, the Group is 
exposed to significant liquidity risk. The management maintain detailed financial forecasts and monitors actual results on 
a regular basis so that measures can be taken to ensure the Group remains solvent; Credit risk is the risk of financial losses 
to the Group if a counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations and arises mainly from the 
Group’s bank receivables. The creditworthiness of the bank institution is reviewed periodically. The maximum credit risk 
exposure of the Group is limited to the carrying amounts of its financial assets, amounting at the reporting date to KEur 
159 (2020: KEur 487). 
 
Capital risk -The Group’s objectives in managing capital are to grant the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern 
in order to get return for shareholders and to maintain a capital structure that optimize cost of capital. The instruments for 
achieving an optimal capital structure depends for the time being on external factors not entirely under the Group’s control. 
The Group explore constantly the market conditions for opportunities to raise funds and optimally structure its capital. 
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements. 
 
Market risk - Foreign exchange risk arises from future transactions and recognized financial assets and liabilities not 
denominated in the Group’s functional currency. The actual level of the Group activities does not require an active 
management of the foreign exchange risks different from maintaining currency correlation between financial asset and 
liabilities and the Group does not considers material shifts in the exchange rates of all involved currencies as a realistic 
scenario. Variations in all Group currencies in respect of the functional currency would have an immaterial impact 
compared to the year-end 2021 status (same as the previous year). 
 
The risk management and internal control framework is reviewed, improved, and optimized on an ongoing basis within the 
Group as a result of internal evaluations, discussions and interaction between the involved parties. A whistle-blower's policy 
as part of that framework has also been adopted by the Group. 
 
In accordance with best practice 1.4.3 of the Code, the Board of Directors confirms that: 

 
• the report provides sufficient insights into any failings in the effectiveness of the internal risk management and 

control systems; 
• the aforementioned systems provide reasonable assurance that the financial reporting does not contain any 

material inaccuracies; 
• based on the current state of affairs, it is justified that the financial reporting is prepared on a going concern basis; 
• this report states those material risks and uncertainties that are relevant to the expectation of the Company’s 

continuity for the period of twelve months after the preparation of the report. 
 

10 Information policy 
IGEA intends to undertake a significant effort to keep its shareholders informed and to properly achieve capital markets 
and public interest. Near to a regular update of the corporate website (www.igeapharma.nl), the regular and extraordinary 
reporting to the SIX Swiss Exchange and the general public and the possibility to receive from IGEA free and timely 
notification of potentially price-sensitive facts by way of the web page pull service and the webpage push service, the Group 
is implementing an active communication policy oriented to the presentation of IGEA to opinion leaders, multiplicators of 
public opinion, analysts and other stakeholder’s having a potential interest in the business of IGEA. 

 
The push and pull service of IGEA is available at https://www.igeapharma.nl/corporate-information/. 

 

Important dates for 2021 are the annual General Meeting on September 2022 and the presentation of the half-year financials 
on October 2022. 

 
11 Deviations from the Dutch Corporate Governance Code 
The Code applies to all companies whose registered offices are in the Netherlands and whose shares have been admitted to 
listing on a stock exchange, or more specifically to trading on a regulated market or a comparable system and contains 
principles and best practice provisions that regulate relations between the corporate bodies in charge with the management 
and the shareholders and is based on a “comply or explain” principle. Accordingly, the Company is required to disclose in 
its annual report which principles and best practices of the Code it does not apply and the reason why. 



 

 

 
IGEA acknowledge the importance of good corporate governance. However, at this stage, the Group does not comply with 
all the provisions of the Code for specific  reasons. The main deviations are listed below. It is expressly noted that any 
information  not contained or mentioned in this Governance Report is either non-applicable or its omission is to be construed 
as a negative declaration: 
  

• Given its small size, the Group does not maintain an internal audit department pursuant to best practice rules 
1.3.1 through 1.3.6; 

• In relation to best practice provision 2.1.5, it is noted that a diversity policy exists but given its small size, the 
Group expects not to be in the condition to comply with this best practice provision within at least the nextyears; 

• The Non-executive Directors did not render account on the supervision exercised in the 2019 financial year 
because of the adoption of a one-tier governance structure (with abolishment of the previous existing supervisory 
board) in January 2020. Given the ongoing Combination and the impact the former was expected to have on the 
corporate governance, the task in accordance with best practice 2.2.8 has been postponed to2022; 

• The Board maintains a nomination and remuneration committee which is a combined committee and not 
separated in two committees as required by the best practice2.3.2; 

• The Group does not announce, for practical reasons, meeting with analysts and presentations to analysts and 
(institutional) investors, nor does the Group provide for shareholders to follow these meetings in real time. As 
such, best practice provision 4.2.3 is not applied. IGEA believe that enabling shareholders to follow in real time 
all the meetings with analysts, presentations to analysts and presentations to (institutional) investors would create 
an excessive burden on its resources and therefore, the Company does not intend to comply with the above 
requirements. However, presentations used by the Group are posted on its website and regularly updated; 

• Best practice provision 4.3.3 provides that the general meeting may pass a resolution to cancel the binding nature 
of a nomination to appoint or remove a director by an absolute majority of the votes cast. The articles of association 
provided that such a resolution not in conformity with or without a proposal of the Board can only be adopted in 
a first general meeting with at least a two/third majority which must represent more than 50% of the issued share 
capital because IGEA believe that the decision to overrule binding nominations should be widely supported by its 
shareholders; 

• In view of best practice provision 4.2.6, it is noted that the Group has no outstanding or potential protection 
measures against a takeover of control. 



 

 

Section III – Consolidated financial statements 

Consolidated balance sheet (*) 

(in thousand Euro, unless otherwise stated) 
 

  
 
(*) After appropriation of result 

 
 
 

ASSETS Notes 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 1.1.2020

Property, plant and equipment -                       -                       -                       
Right-of-use assets -                       -                       204,9                  
Intangible assets -                       -                       -                       
Goodwill 6                           8.917,5               -                       -                       
Investments accounted for using the equity method 22                        1.213,7               1.007,8               263,5                  
Loans and receivables 14                        130,0                  -                       -                       
Non current assets 10.261,2            1.007,8               468,4                  

-                       
Inventories 16                        914,4                  914,0                  947,2                  
Trade receivables 14                        12,5                     1,5                       136,1                  
Other assets 17                        183,2                  103,8                  54,8                     
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 14                        -                       397,3                  1.085,5               
Cash and cash equivalents 14                        17,1                     88,6                     64,0                     
Current assets 1.127,1               1.505,1               2.287,6               

Total assets 11.388,3            2.513,0               2.756,0               

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Share capital 18                        3.347,2               3.062,0               3.043,6               
Share premium 19                        16.813,1            1.439,5               837,2                  
Reserves 19                        422,7                  306,5                  336,7                  
Accumulated loss 10.979,7-            4.342,5-               3.343,6-               
Equity attributable to owners of BSNR 9.603,3               465,5                  873,9                  
Non-controlling interests 24,6-                     -                       0,1-                       
Total shareholders' equity 9.578,7               465,5                  873,7                  

Financial debts 14                        590,1                  1.175,4               1.095,8               
Lease liabilities -                       -                       174,7                  
Non-current liabilities 590,1                  1.175,4               1.270,6               

Trade and other payables 14                        698,3                  686,5                  456,9                  
Financial debts 14                        502,5                  12,3                     
Lease liabilities -                       -                       30,3                     
Accruals 15                        293,8                  173,2                  124,4                  
Current liabilities 1.494,7               872,0                  611,6                  

Total equity and liabilities 11.388,3            2.513,0               2.756,0               



 

 

 
Consolidated statement of profit or loss  

(in thousand Euro, unless otherwise stated) 
 

Notes 2021 2020 

Revenue                              7 103,3 123,7 
Cost of sales 10 (126,2) (163,9) 
Gross result  (22,9) (40,2) 

Research and development 10 (148,9) (132,1) 
Sales and marketing 10 (0,2) (14,2) 
General and administration 10 (1.152,8) (523,7) 
Other income 9 179,9 139,0 
Other expenses  - - 
Operating result  (1.145,0) (571,2) 

Finance income 11 24,9 0,3 
Finance costs 11 (6,5) (107,7) 
Finance costs, net  18,4 (107,4) 

Share of net result of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the 
equity method 

                          8 (132,3) (320,4) 

Result before income tax  (1.258,9) (998,9) 

Income tax expense  - - 
Result of the period     (1.258,9)     (998,9) 

 
Attributable to: 

Owners of IGEA Pharma N.V. (1.247,4) (998,9) 
Non-controlling interests (11,5) - 

 (1.258,9) (998,9) 
 
Basic loss per share (in Euro) 

 
20 

 
(0,0040) 

 
(0,0032) 

Diluted loss per share (in Euro) 20 (0,0040) (0,0032) 



 

 

 
 

Consolidated statement of other comprehensive income  

(in thousand Euro, unless otherwise stated) 

 2021 2020 

Result of the period (1.258,9) (998,9) 

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss 
 
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 
Share of other comprehensive result of associates and joint ventures 
accounted for using the equity method 
 

 
 

116,2 
- 

 
 

(17,6) 
(12,5) 

Other comprehensive result for the period, net of tax 116,2 (30,1) 

Total comprehensive result for the period      (1.142,7)      (1.029,0) 
 
Attributable to: 
 

Owners of BSNR Ltd (1.131,2) (1.029,0) 
Non-controlling interests (11,5) - 

 

      (1.048,9)      (1.029,0)   



 

 

 
Consolidated statement of changes in equity 
(in thousand Euro, unless otherwise stated) 
 

 

Attributable to owners of 
           BSNR Ltd  

 
 

  
 

Share 
capital 

Share 
premium 

 
Reserves 

Accumulated 
loss 

 
NCI 

 
Total 

Balance at 1 January 2020  3.043,6 837,2 336,7 (3.343,6) (0,1) 873,7 

Result of the period  - - - (998,9) - (998,9) 
Other comprehensive result for the period  - - (30,1) - - (30,1) 
Total comprehensive result for the period  - - (30,1) (998,9) - (1.029,0) 

Issuance of shares, net of cost  18,4 602,3 - - - 620,7 
Transactions with minorities  -  (0,1) - 0,1 - 
Total transactions with owners  18,4 602,3 (0,1) - 0,1 620,7 

Balance at 31 December 2020  3.062,0 1.439,5 306,5 (4.342,5) - 465,5 
 
 
Balance at 1 January 2021 

  
 

3.062,0 

 
 

1.439,5 

 
 

306,5 

 
 

(4.342,5) 

 
 

- 

 
 

465,5 

Result of the period  - - - (1.247,4) (11,5) (1.258,9) 
Other comprehensive result for the period  - - 116,2 -  116,2 
Total comprehensive result for the period  - - 116,2 (1.247,4) (11,5) (1.142,7) 

Issuance of BSNR shares, net of 
cost 

 
 

 
15,0 

 
681,9 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
696,9 

Reverse acquisition IGEA - BSNR  252,2 14.559,7  
 

(5.389,8) (13,2) 9.408,9 

Conversion of IGEA convertible notes  18,0 -18,0    - 

Issuance of IGEA convertible notes 
 

 - 150,0    150,0 

Total transactions with owners  285,2 15.373,6 - (5.389,8) (13,2) 10.255,8 

Balance at 31 December 2021  3.347,2 16.813,1 422,7 (10.979,7) (24,6) 9.578,7 



 

 

 

Consolidated statement of cash flows 
(in thousand Euro, unless otherwise stated) 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Notes 2021 2020

Cash generated from operations 21 -1.085,9 -199,1 
Interest and income tax paid 0,0 0,0
Net cash flow from operating activities -1.085,9 -199,1 

Payments for intangible assets 0,0 0,0
Payments for the acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 6 59,4 -15,5 
Investments in associates and joint ventures 23 -214,9 -1.081,3 
(Increase) decrease in financial assets 14 447,3 0,0
Cash flow from investing activities 291,8 -1.096,8 

Proceeds from issuance of shares, net of cost 19 696,9 626,9
Proceeds from calls of shares and calls in arrears 0,0 636,4
Proceeds (repayment) from/of financial debts 14 -70,2 46,9
Repayments of lease liabilities 0,0 -12,5 
Finance cost 11 18,4 -54,0 
Cash flow from financing activities 645,1 1.243,6

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents -148,9 -52,3 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 88,6 64,0
Net effect of currency translation 77,4 76,9
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 17,1 88,6



 

 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 2021 

1 General information 
 

IGEA Pharma N.V. ("IGEA") is incorporated under Dutch law (naamloze vennootschap) and registered with the trade 
register of the Dutch Chamber of Commerce of Amsterdam (Kamer van Koophandel) under number 70212821. The 
Company headquarter and registered office is in Siriusdreef 17, 2123 WT Hoofddorp, the Netherlands. The principal place 
of business is in the US.  
IGEA focuses on health-tech and med-tech products and devices. Health-tech products are exclusively preventative. IGEA 
commercializes an Alzheimer’s prevention set (which includes ’Alz1’, an at-home lab test kit to measure non-bound copper 
in the blood and a natural dietary supplement branded ‘Alz1 Tab’ designed to reduce blood heavy metals content) and 
expects to integrate the non-bound copper detection-based pipeline with a diabetes type II prevention set (‘Dbt2’) in 2021. 
Non-bound copper is an expected Alzheimer’s and diabetes type II associated biomarker. Controlling non-bound copper 
can contribute to reduce the risk of Alzheimer’s and diabetes type II. IGEA furthermore commercializes a COVID19 rapid 
test for the detection of IgM and IgG SARS-CoV-2 related antibodies. Med-tech products focuses on selected solutions and 
specialties. IGEA commercializes dry aerosol generators for air and inanimate environmental surfaces sanitization and 
sterilization and air purification devices. 
Blue Sky Natural Resources LTD (“BSNR”, the "Company" or the "Parent") is a private company limited by shares 
incorporated under the law of England and registered under company number 10142949 with the Registrar of Companies 
of England and Wales. The Company headquarter and registered office is in 10 Philpot Lane EC3M BAA, London, 
England. The principal place of business is in England. 
BSNR focuses on highly controlled vegetable matrices and their industrial processing to extract cannabidiol, terpenes, 
polycosanol and other valuable components and in the distribution of food supplements and functional food. BSNR was 
incorporated on 22 April 2016 and was dormant until November 2017, when a first share capital increase took place and 
operations started progressively with the exploration of opportunities and the implementation of activities leading to a first 
agricultural campaign and to the development of own transformation processes during 2019 and 2020. Those activities 
continued also in 2021. 
In August 2020, IGEA entered a letter of intent, binding in terms, with BSNR, to combine the two companies’ businesses. 
The combination aims to create an EU headquartered and SIX-listed company with an innovative early-stage commercial 
portfolio of health prevention, pharma, nutraceutical, and cosmeceutical solutions focused on high quality featured 
cannabidiol (CBD), terpenes, policosanol, and plant sterols. The combination has been structured through a contribution 
in-kind by the BSNR shareholders of their ownership in BSNR into IGEA by subscribing IGEA’s newly issued shares. 
On 28 April 2021, the extraordinary General Meeting of IGEA approved the resolution of the Board to enter the 
combination and resolved to appoint the Board to issue up to a maximum of 309,600,000 new shares at par, reserved for 
issuance to the shareholders of BSNR only, to finalize the combination. 
On 23 September 2021, IGEA completed the combination by way of a share capital increase from Euro 252.2 to Euro 
3,329.2 thousands by issuing, at par, 307,700,514 new shares with a nominal value of Euro 0.01 each. The new shares were 
issued to the shareholders of BSNR exclusively, against contribution in-kind of 34,188,946 shares in the share capital of 
BSNR, representing 99.38% of the share capital and the votes in BSNR. 
IGEA paid for the BSNR shares solely by issuing the new shares. For each BSNR share, regardless of its class, IGEA 
offered nine new shares. 
The newly issued 307,700,514 shares of IGEA were listed on 27 September 2021. 
The Combination will create: 

• an EU headquartered and SIX-listed Group with an innovative early-stage commercial and a highly diversifiable 
pipeline focused on health prevention, pharma, and other selected industries; and 

• a center of excellence on highly controlled vegetable matrices and their industrial supercritical carbon dioxide 
(CO2)-based extraction technology to highly valuable components mainly focused on CBD. 

As a result of the transaction, the former BSNR shareholders who exchanged their equity interests for equity interests of 
IGEA own 92 percent of IGEA share capital, thus controlling the listed entity. The transaction qualifies as a reverse 
acquisition and as a business combination, with the consolidated financial statements of IGEA after 1 January 2021 being 
the continuation of the consolidated financial statements of Blue Sky Natural Resources LTD including IGEA and its 
subsidiaries from the executed combination (23 September 2021) onwards. 
Unless the context indicates otherwise, all reference to the ‘Group’ refer to BSNR and its consolidated subsidiaries 
(including IGEA). 
Key elements of the combined Group's strategy include: 

• leverage commercial capabilities, partnerships, and portfolios to establish market acceptance and gain market 
position for the offered solutions; and 



 

 

• capitalize on the financial leverage and operational synergies to improve return on capital and achieve 
profitability. 

The combined Group operates two major business lines, namely: 
• an industrial processing segment, focused on highly controlled vegetable matrices and their industrial processing 

to extract CBD and other valuable components with high purity standards; and 
• a distribution segment, focused on health prevention and wellness solutions and including dietary supplements 

and functional food sold under the brand ‘Equilibrium Intelligent Food’ and IGEA's health-tech solutions 
addressing Alzheimer's disease and Diabetes Type II prevention. 

These Group consolidated financial statements have been approved for disclosure on 28 September 2022 and are subject 
to approval of the general meeting. 

2 Summary of significant accounting policies 
 

 Basis of preparation 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
as adopted by the European Union (IFRS EU) and Title 9 Chapter 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis. 
The consolidated financial statements of IGEA are the continuation of the consolidated financial statements of Blue Sky 
Natural Resources LTD including IGEA and its subsidiaries from the executed combination (23 September 2021) onwards. 
Comparative information presented in these consolidated financial statements is that of Blue Sky Natural Resources Ltd, 
not that originally presented in the previous consolidated financial statements of IGEA, as adjusted to reflect the legal 
capital of IGEA as legal parent 
The Directors have elected to change the Group’s presentation currency from GBP to Euro effective from 1 January 2021. 
The change in presentation currency is a voluntary change which is accounted for retrospectively. An additional balance 
sheet (as of 1 January 2020) is presented in accordance with paragraph 10(f) of IAS 1. 
All other accounting policies are consistent with those adopted in the annual financial report for the year ended 31 December 
2020. 
The consolidated financial statements have been restated to Euro using the procedures outlined below: 

• Statement of Comprehensive Income and Statement of Cash Flows have been translated into Euro using average 
foreign currency rates prevailing for the relevant period. 

• Assets and liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position have been translated into Euro at the closing foreign 
currency rates on the relevant balance sheet dates; 

• The equity section of the Statement of Financial Position, including foreign currency translation reserve, retained 
earnings, share capital and the other reserves, have been translated into Euro using historical rates. 

• Earnings per share have also been restated to Euro to reflect the change in presentation currency. 
As a result of the restatement, a cumulative restatement adjustment of Euro 3,7 thousands was recognized in the opening 
balance sheet of prior period (1.1.2020) and classified as part of the translation reserve. 
The exchange rates used were as follows: 
 
GBP/Euro 2021 2020 2019 
Closing rate 0,84     0,90     0,85 
Average rate 0,86 0,89 // 

 
All figures included in these consolidated financial statements and notes are rounded to the Euro thousands, except when 
otherwise indicated. 
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS EU requires the use of estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Although these 
estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current events and actions, actual results ultimately may differ 
from those estimates. It also requires management to make judgements in the process of applying the Group’s accounting 
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are 
significant to the financial statements are disclosed in note 4 ‘Critical estimates and judgements’ of these consolidated 
financial statements. 

 
  
  
  



 

 

 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting 
 

 Subsidiaries 
Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Company (BSNR) has direct or indirect control. The Group controls an entity 
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to 
affect those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is 
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases. 
Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealized gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. 
Unrealized losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. 
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by 
the Group. 
As illustrated above, these consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 2021 and for the year then ended are the 
continuation of the consolidated financial statements of BSNR, including IGEA and its subsidiaries from the executed 
reverse acquisition onwards. 
The following legal entities are direct subsidiaries of BSNR: 

Ownership interest 
Name Country Consolid. 2021 2020 
Universal Trade Elite LTD UK full      100% 100% 
Equilibrium Food Sagl Switzerland full 100% 100% 
Blue Sky Lycopene Srl (*) Italy full // 100% 

 
The following legal entities are direct subsidiaries of IGEA: 

 
Name Country Consolid. 2021 2020 
Blue Sky Natural Resources LTD UK full 99.38% // 
IGEA Research Corporation United States full 98.67% 98.67% 

 
(*) In December 2021, Blue Sky Lycopene Srl (previously held at 100%) was merged into ATI Biotech Srl, a private 
company incorporated under the laws of Italy. As a result of the merger, the Group exchanged its equity instruments of 
Blue Sky Lycopene with a 20% shareholding in ATI Biotech.  

 
 Associates 
Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control or joint control. This is generally 
the case where the Group holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted for 
using the equity method of accounting, after initially being recognised at cost. 
The following legal entities are associates of the Group: 

Ownership interest 
Name Country Consolid. 2021 2020 
ATI Biotech Srl Italy equity 20% // 

 
 Joint ventures 
Under IFRS 11 - Joint Arrangements, investments in joint arrangements are classified as either joint operations or joint 
ventures. The classification depends on the contractual rights and obligations of each investor, rather than the legal structure 
of the joint arrangement. The Group does only have joint ventures. Interests in joint ventures are accounted for using the 
equity method, after initially being recognised at cost. 
The joint ventures entered into by the Group are the following: 

Ownership interest 
Name Country Consolid. 2021 2020 
Blue Sky Swisse SA Switzerland equity 50% 50% 

 
 Equity method 
Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise 
the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the Group’s share of 
movements in other comprehensive income of the investee in other comprehensive income. Dividends received or 
receivable from associates and joint ventures are recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.  
Where the Group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted investment equals or exceeds its interest in the entity, including 
any other unsecured long-term receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations 
or made payments on behalf of the other entity. Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates and 
joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in these entities. Unrealised losses are also eliminated 



 

 

unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. 
Accounting policies of equity-accounted investees have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the 
policies adopted by the Group. The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments is tested for impairment in accordance 
with the policy described in note "Impairment of non-financial assets". 
  
 Changes in ownership interests 
The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control as transactions with equity 
owners of the Group. The difference between any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value 
of net assets of the subsidiary is recognized in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also 
recorded in equity. 
When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity account for an investment because of a loss of control, joint control or 
significant influence, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value, with the change in carrying amount 
recognised in profit or loss. This fair value becomes the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting 
for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in 
other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related 
assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to 
profit or loss. 
If the ownership interest in a joint venture or an associate is reduced but joint control or significant influence is retained by 
the Group, only a proportionate share of the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified 
to profit or loss where appropriate. 

 
 Segment reporting 
A small management team that reports to the Chief Executive Officer comprehensively manages the entire business. The 
operating decision-maker is the Chief Executive Officer who reviews the Group operations and makes decisions. The 
activities of the Group are not affected by any significant seasonal effect. The Group is focused on the US and EU markets 
and operates on other markets with an opportunistic approach, but the Group does not consider geographies to be separate 
segments. 

 
 Foreign currency translation 
  
 Functional and presentation currency 
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the entity operates (the ‘functional currency’). The Directors have elected to change the 
Group’s presentation currency from GBP to Euro effective from 1 January 2021, as previously explained. The change in 
presentation currency is a voluntary change which is accounted for retrospectively. 
  
 Transactions and balances 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rate prevailing at the dates of 
the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the 
translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in other currencies are recognized in the statement of profit or 
loss. 

 
 Group companies 
Assets and liabilities of Group entities using a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated 
into the presentation currency using year-end rates of exchange. Income and expenses and cash flows are translated at 
average exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing 
on the transaction dates, in which case they are translated at the dates of the transactions). All resulting translation 
differences are recognized directly in other comprehensive income. On the divestment of a foreign entity, the identified 
cumulative currency translation difference relating to that foreign entity is recognized in income as part of the gain or loss 
on divestment. Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and 
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate. 

 
 Leases 
All contracts that convey the right to use an underlying physical asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration 
are recognized as a right-of-use asset together with a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset is available 
for use, except for leases with a term of twelve months or less (short-term leases) and low value leases. For these short-
term and low value leases, the Group recognizes the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over 
the term of the lease. In determining the lease term, management consider all facts and circumstances that create an 
economic incentive to exercise an extension option, or not to exercise a termination option. Extension options are only 
considered if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended. The assessment of reasonable certainty is only revised if a 



 

 

significant event or a significant change in circumstances, that is within the control of the lessees, occurs. 
Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. The lease liabilities include the 
net present value of the future payments, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if not readily 
determinable, an incremental borrowing rate, being the rate that the Group would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary 
to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset, in a similar economic environment. Lease payments are allocated 
between principal and finance cost. The right-of-use assets are initially recognized at cost, which comprises the amount of 
the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, adjusted for any lease payments made at or prior to the 
commencement date of the lease, any lease incentive received, and any initial direct costs incurred by the Group, and 
expected costs for obligations to dismantle and remove right-of-use assets when they are no longer used. 
Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. 
Right-of-use assets are assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the balance sheet carrying amount may 
not be recoverable using cash flow projections for the useful life. 

 
 Intangible assets 
Separately acquired intangible assets are shown at cost. Intangible assets acquired through a business combination are 
recognized at fair value at the acquisition date. They have a finite useful life and are subsequently carried at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. 

 
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised 
on a straight-line basis over the useful economic life, which for patent and similar rights is 12 years as at 31 December 
2020 (previous period: 13 years), and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may 
be impaired: 

 
Gains or losses arising from de-recognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognized in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is 
derecognized. 

 
 Goodwill 
Goodwill is measured as described in note "Business combinations". Goodwill is not amortised, but it is tested for 
impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired and is 
carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount 
of goodwill relating to the entity sold. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. 
The allocation is made to those cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from 
the business combination in which the goodwill arose. The units or groups of units are identified at the lowest level at which 
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes. 

 
 Trademarks, licenses, and other similar rights 
Separately acquired trademarks, licenses or other similar rights are shown at historical cost. Trademarks, licenses, and other 
similar rights acquired in a business combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. They have a finite 
useful life and are subsequently carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. 
  
 Impairment of non-financial assets 
Assets that are subject to depreciation and amortization are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized for the amount 
by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s 
fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered impairment are reviewed 
for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date. 
  
 Business combinations 
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations, regardless of whether equity 
instruments or other assets are acquired. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary comprises: 

• the fair values of the assets transferred; 
• the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired business; 
• the equity interests issued by the group; 
• the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement; and 
• the fair value of any pre-existing equity interest. 

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are, with limited 
exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The group recognises any non-controlling interest 
in the acquired entity on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s 
proportionate share of the acquired entity’s net identifiable assets. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. 



 

 

The excess of: 
• the consideration transferred; 
• the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity; and 
• the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquired entity 

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is recognized as goodwill. If those amounts are less than the fair 
value of the net identifiable assets of the business acquired, the difference is recognised directly in profit or loss as a bargain 
purchase. 
Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are discounted to their 
present value as at the date of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at 
which a similar borrowing could be obtained from an independent financier under comparable terms and conditions.  
Contingent consideration is classified either as equity or a financial liability and is measured at fair value at initial 
recognition. Contingent consideration that is classified as a liability is remeasured to fair value at each reporting date, with 
changes included in the income statement. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not subsequently 
remeasured. 
If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously held equity 
interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date. Any gains or losses arising from such 
remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss. 
A reverse acquisition occurs if the entity that issues securities (the legal acquirer) is identified as the acquiree for accounting 
purposes and the entity whose equity interests are acquired (legal acquiree) is the acquirer for accounting purposes. 
A reverse acquisition that is a business combination can occur only if the accounting acquiree meets the definition of a 
business under IFRS 3. In such case, like other business combinations, reverse acquisitions must be accounted for using 
the acquisition method, and all of the recognition and measurement principles in IFRS3, including the requirement to 
recognize goodwill, apply. 
Consolidated financial statements prepared following a reverse acquisition are issued under the name of the legal parent 
(accounting acquiree) but described in the notes as a continuation of the financial statements of the legal subsidiary 
(accounting acquirer), with one adjustment, which is to adjust retroactively the accounting acquirer’s legal capital to reflect 
the legal capital of the accounting acquiree. 
The owners of the accounting acquirer who do not exchange their equity interests for equity interests of the accounting 
acquiree are treated as a non-controlling interest in the consolidated financial statements. The non-controlling interest 
reflects the non-controlling shareholders’ proportionate interest in the pre-combination carrying amounts of the legal 
acquiree’s net assets. 

 
 Financial instruments 

 
 Investments and other financial assets 
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories: 

• At amortised cost. Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows, where those cash flows represent 
solely payments of principal and interest, are measured at amortised cost. Interest income from these financial 
assets is included in finance income using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on 
derecognition is recognised directly in profit or loss and presented in other gains/(losses) together with foreign 
exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses are included in the result from continuing operations and separately 
disclosed in the Notes; 

• At fair value through other comprehensive income. Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows 
and for selling the financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and 
interest, are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. Movements in the carrying amount are 
taken through other comprehensive income, except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest 
income and foreign exchange gains and losses, which are recognised in profit or loss. When the financial asset is 
derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified 
from equity to profit or loss and recognised in other gains/(losses). Interest income from these financial assets is 
included in finance income using the effective interest rate method. Foreign exchange gains and losses are 
presented in other gains/(losses) in finance result and impairment losses are included in the result from continuing 
operations and separately disclosed in the Notes. No financial assets have been classified under this category in 
the reported periods; 

• At fair value through profit or loss. Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or fair value through 
other comprehensive income are measured at fair value through profit or loss. A gain or loss on a financial asset 
that is subsequently measured consequently is recognised in profit or loss and presented net within other 
gains/(losses) in the period in which it arises. 

The classification depends on the Group’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of 
the cash flows. For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or other 



 

 

comprehensive income. For investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend on whether the 
Group has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment at fair value 
through other comprehensive income. The Group reclassifies investments when and only when its business model for 
managing those assets changes. 
Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade date, being the date on which the Group commits 
to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial 
assets have expired or have been transferred and the group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership. 
At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair 
value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. 
Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss. Subsequent 
measurement of financial assets depends on the group’s business model for managing the asset and the cash flow 
characteristics of the asset. 
Equity instruments are measured at fair value. Where the Group’s management has elected to present fair value gains and 
losses on equity investments in other comprehensive income, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and 
losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of the investment. Dividends from such investments continue to be 
recognised in profit or loss as other income when the group’s right to receive payments is established. Changes in the fair 
value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in other gains/(losses) in the statement  of profit 
or loss as applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses) on equity investments measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income are not reported separately from other changes in fair value. 
The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit loss associated with its investments and other financial 
assets carried at amortised cost and fair value through other comprehensive income. The impairment methodology applied 
depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk. 
 
 Trade receivables and other current assets 
Trade receivables are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest rate method. Due to their short-term nature, their carrying amount generally correspond to their fair value. The 
group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss 
allowance for all trade receivables. 
 
 Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents are stated at nominal value. They only include deposits held at call with financial institutions 
immediately available for use by the Group. 

 
 Financial liabilities 
 
 Financial debts 
Financial debts are initially recognized at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and subsequently stated at amortized 
cost. Any difference between the proceeds received (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in 
profit or loss over the debt period using the effective interest method. 
Financial debts are removed from the balance sheet when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled 
or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of a financial debt that has been extinguished or transferred to 
another party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in 
profit or loss as other income. 
 
 Trade and other payables 
Trade and other payables are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized costs. Due to their 
short-term nature, their carrying amount generally correspond to their fair value. 
 
 Lease liabilities 
Pursuant to IFRS 16, liabilities deriving from lease arrangements are classified separately. 
 
 Contingent consideration 
Contingent consideration is classified as a liability or equity and is measured at fair value at initial recognition. Contingent 
consideration that is classified as a liability is remeasured to fair value at each reporting date, with changes included in the 
income statement. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not subsequently remeasured. 
 
 Inventories 
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Net realizable value is the estimated market price less 



 

 

applicable variable selling expenses. Inventories consist of health-tech products and devices in finished form ready for sale. 
 

 Paid in capital 
Shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown as a deduction, 
net of tax, from the proceeds and accounted for within equity. 

 
 Treasury shares 
Own equity instruments reacquired are recognized at cost and deducted from equity. No gain or loss is recognized in the 
statement of profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments. Any difference 
between the carrying amount and the consideration, if reissued, is recognized directly in share premium. Voting rights 
related to treasury shares are nullified for the Group and no dividends are allocated to them. 
  
 Provisions 
Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is 
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount has been reliably estimated. 
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre- 
tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. 

 
 Current versus non-current classification 
The Group presents assets and liabilities in the balance sheet based on current/non-current classification. An asset is current 
when the following is given. All other assets are classified as non-current: 

• It is expected to be realized or intended to be sold or consumed in the normal operating cycle or to be realized 
within twelve months after the reporting period; 

• Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve 
months after the reporting period. 

A liability is current when the following is given. All other liabilities are classified as non-current: 
• It is expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle or it is due to be settled within twelve months after the 

reporting period; 
• There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting 

period. 
 

 Income tax 
The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the 
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to 
temporary differences and to unused tax losses. 
The current income tax charge is calculated based on the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting 
period in the countries where the company and its subsidiaries and associates operate and generate taxable income. Deferred 
income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not 
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not accounted for if it arises 
from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the 
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and 
laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected to apply when the 
related deferred income tax asset is realised, or the deferred income tax liability is settled. Deferred tax assets are recognised 
only if it is probable that future taxable income will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses. 
Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax bases 
of investments in foreign operations where the Company is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary 
differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities 
and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset 
where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and 
settle the liability simultaneously. 
Tax is recognized in the statement of profit or loss except to the extent that it releases to items recognized in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case the tax is also recognized in other comprehensive income or directly 
in equity, respectively. 

 
  



 

 

 Employee benefits 
  
 Short-term obligations 
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulated sick leave that are 
expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service 
are recognised in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period and are measured at the amounts 
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. 

 
 Pension and other post-employment cost 
The Group did not operate pension and other post-employment benefits schemes during the reporting period. 

 
 Share-based compensation 
The Group did not operate equity incentive plans during the reporting period. 

 
 Revenue recognition 
Revenues are the gross inflows of economic benefits during the period arising in the course of the ordinary activities of an 
entity. 
The process underlying the recognition of revenues follows the steps set out in IFRS 15: 

• identification of the contract: takes place when the parties approve the contract (with commercial substance), and 
identify the respective rights and obligations: in other terms, the contract must be legally binding, the rights to 
receive goods and/or services and the terms of payment can be clearly identified and the Group considers receipt 
of payment as probable; 

• identification of the performance obligations: the main performance obligations identified, i.e. promises to 
transfer goods and services that are distinct, are sales of products; 

• determination of the transaction price: is the total amount contracted with the other party; 
• allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations: the allocation is made proportionately to the 

respective stand-alone selling prices calculated based on the list prices; 
• recognition of revenues: revenues are stated net of discounts, cancellations and value added taxes. The Group 

recognizes revenue when it transfers control of the product to a customer, which is generally when the goods 
have left the warehouse for shipment to the customer. 

  
 Earnings per share 
Basic earnings or losses per shares are calculated by dividing the net result of the period attributable to the equity holders 
of IGEA by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period. The number of shares outstanding varies 
as a result of different operations on the share capital structure of the Company. Diluted losses per share adjusts the figures 
used in the determination of basic losses per share to take into account the after-income tax effect of interest and other 
financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares, and the weighted average number of additional ordinary 
shares that would have been outstanding assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. 
   
 Related party transactions 
Transactions with related parties are made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm’s length transactions. Please 
refer to note 23 for additional details. 

3 Changes in accounting policies 
 

 Changes 
There were no changes in the accounting policies used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements in 
respect of those adopted in the previous year, with the exception of the change the Group’s presentation currency from 
GBP to Euro, effective from 1 January 2021 and applied retrospectively, as detailed in the previous paragraph "Basis for 
preparation". 

 
 New standards and interpretations 

The following new, revised or amended standards and interpretations which are mandatory for the financial periods 
beginning on 1 January 2021 did not have any material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements: 
1) Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 Reform of the interest rates benchmark Phase 2 
On January 13, 2021, Regulation (EU) no. 2021/25 was issued, which incorporated a set of amendments to the IFRSs 



 

 

relating to the reform of the interbanking rates offered (IBOR) and other interest rate benchmarks. The amendments aim to 
help the entities to provide investors with useful information on the effects of the reform on the entities’ financial 
statements. The amendments integrate those issued in 2019 and focus on the effects of the financial statements when an 
entity replaces the old interest rate benchmark with an alternative benchmark rate following the reform. 
2) Amendments to IFRS 16 Leases: COVID 19 related rent concessions beyond June 30, 2021 
On August 30, 2021, Regulation (EU) 2021/1421 was issued, endorsing the extension by one year of the period of 
application of the practical expedient of IFRS 16 Leases, to assist lessees in accounting for COVID 19 related rent 
concessions. 
At the date of preparation of these consolidated financial statements, the IASB had issued the following new Standards and 
Interpretations which have not yet come into force and have not yet been endorsed by the EU: 

 
 Mandatory application from 
New Standards / Interpretations endorsed by the EU but not yet in force 
 

 

Amendments to: IFRS 3 Business combinations; IAS 16 Property, Plant 
and equipment; IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent 
Assets; Annual cycle of improvements 2018-2020 

1/01/2022 

Amendments to IAS 12 Income taxes: deferred tax related to assets and 
liabilities arising from a single transaction 

1/01/2023 

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Disclosure on 
accounting policies 

1/01/2023 

Amendments to IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting 
Estimates and Errors: Definition of accounting estimates  
 

1/01/2023 

 
New Standards and Interpretations not yet in force and not yet endorsed 
by the EU 
 

 

 
Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: classification 
of liabilities as current or non-current 
 

 
 

1/01/2023 

The potential impacts on the Group consolidated financial statements from the application of these standards and 
interpretations are currently being assessed. 

4 Critical estimates and judgments 
 

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions concerning the future that 
affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income, expenses, and related disclosures. The 
estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making the judgments about carrying values of 
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The 
estimates (and underlying assumptions) that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities or may have a significant impact on the reported results are described below: 

 
 Ability to continue operations. 
 As mentioned elsewhere in this Annual Report, the Group entered on April 2021 into a convertible bond commitment 

with Negma Group Ltd that will make available, within the next 2 years, up to EUR 2 million, already extendable up 
to EUR 10 million once the Combination will be performed, for IGEA to use at its discretion in pursuing its business 
programs. The commitment is structured in zero coupon note tranches subject to Company’s drawdown, convertible 
into newly issued shares of IGEA at a strike of 93% of the stock market; 

 The Group therefore will have granted the funds management requires essential to operate the business as expected
 and to meet its obligations as they fall due at least through 31 December 2022, and hence these consolidated 
 financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. However, the ability of the Group to start 
 generating revenues and consistent cash flows to adequately support its operations remains still uncertain, and this 
 exposes the Group to all the risks inherent in establishing a business.  

 
 Impairment of goodwill deriving from a reverse acquisition. The reverse acquisition in September 2021 of IGEA by 

BSNR, as further disclosed in Note 6, generated a provisional goodwill of Euro 8.917 thousands. The recoverability 
of such amount is directly linked to the Group's capabilities to meet the cash flow projections foreseen in the above 
mentioned Business Plan. An impairment test was undertaken as at 31 December 2021 to assess whether the Group's 



 

 

net invested capital (goodwill included) was supported by the net present value of future cash flows expected to be 
derived from its use. The results of this test indicated that no impairment charge was necessary. Judgment is required 
in assessing impairment, particularly in appropriate values or ranges for the key assumptions to be applied in preparing 
cash flow projections, including an appropriate discount rate. Changing the assumptions used, including the discount 
rates or the growth rate could materially affect the net present value used in the impairment test. 
 The future cash flow projections reflect increasing recurring revenue, margin and EBITDA, directly linked to the 
 completion of the industrial site Blue Sky Swisse SA and the start of the production of CBD Rich Oil on a large  scale, 
 foreseen for 2023. The explicit projections are followed by a terminal value which includes: 
- a contingency on revenue (reduced by 20 percent compared to the last explicit period); 
- an assumption of steady growth prudentially set at 0 percent. 
The Group utilized, for the purpose of the impairment test undertaken as of 31 December 2021, a risk adjusted discount 
rate of (WACC) of 17,5 percent, which includes a component of 5 percent in order to fully consider the degree of 
uncertainty associated with the future development of the Group’s offer (execution risk). 

 
 Impairment on intangible assets. Due to the COVID 19 pandemic, the e-commerce distribution of ‘Alz1’ in the US 

was freeze on beginning of 2020, for which the Group owns certain rights to ensure protection and freedom to operate. 
At the beginning of 2021, the Group diversified to the whole sale distribution, entering an exclusive partnership with 
Belgian based Acalis group while maintaining own distribution right. The delay experimented by the Group in 2021 
in ensuring the necessary funds to relaunchthe‘Alz1’e-commerce distribution and the decision to enter on the Business 
Combination with Blue Sky Natural Resources Ltd,  was considered a trigger for impairment, based on which the 
management decided to fully impair the value of the Group's protection rights. 

 
 Deferred tax assets and liabilities. The assess meant as to whether deferred tax assets relating to tax loss carry-

forwards and temporary differences have to be recognized requires significant judgment, in particular on the future 
availability of taxable profits. At 31 December 2021 the Group did not capitalize any deferred tax assets because the 
capitalization criteria are not met. 

 
 Interest in a joint venture. In 2019, the Group entered a joint venture with Pharma Tech Holding SA, which is also a 

relevant shareholder of the Group, specifically formed for setting-up and operate the industrial processes for 
cannabidiol, terpenes, polycosanol and other valuable components extraction from their vegetable matrices. The 
setting-up of the industrial extraction activities required relevant funds that the two joint venturers, owning 50% each 
of the interest in equity and votes of Blue Sky Swisse SA, were so far able to provide even if not in an equal way, 
which contributed to generate to date a loss from the share in the result of the joint venture of Euro 759 thousands. 
Further relevant investments are required to complete the set-up of the industrial infrastructure of Blue Sky Swisse 
SA. 

 This is expected to happen from 2023 onwards, as illustrated above. However, it cannot be excluded that the 
 assumptions made by the management about compliance of covenants of both joint venturers and performance of the 
 joint venture will continue to exist also in the future and this exposes the Group to the risk of sharing additional 
 losses in the joint venture. 

Management does not identify judgements made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, apart from 
those involving estimations, that can significantly affect the amounts it recognizes in the financial statements.  

5 Segment information 
 

 Reportable segments 
The Group has identified the following three segments of its business: 

• Industrial processing. This part of the business deals with the provision of highly controlled vegetable matrices 
and their industrial process for extracting cannabidiol, terpenes, polycosanol and other valuable components 
intended for wholesale distribution mainly to the pharma and cosmeceutical industry; 

• Distribution. This segment deals with the distribution, on a wholesale and e-commerce basis, of (a) food 
supplements and functional food products focusing on artisanal processing methods, traceability and transparency 
of the supply chain, absence of induced genetic manipulation, and control over pollutants, and (b) health-tech 
and med-tech products and devices; 

• Results of activities of financial nature as well as revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities which cannot be 
allocated reliably to another segment are reported under the caption ‘Corporate’. 

The revenues from external customers derive almost entirely from the sales of the ’Alz1’ test kit, and are generated in the 
US territory (same for 2020). The Group generated marginal revenues due to the ongoing efforts to establish market 
acceptance and position for the health prevention solutions offered.  
The Group's assets do not include non-current assets (other than financial instruments, deferred tax assets, post-employment 
benefit assets, and rights arising under insurance contracts) located outside of the legal parent (IGEA)'s country of domicile, 



 

 

with the exception of the investment in the subsidiary ATI Biotech of Euro 87,0 thousands (2020: Euro 0 thousands), 
located in Italy. 

 
 As at 31 December 2021 (Euro/000) 
 Industrial 

process 
Distribution Corporate Total 

     
Revenues from external customers 103,3 -  103,3 
 
Interest income 

 
- 

 
24,9 

  
24,9 

Interest expense (5,3) (1,2)  (6,5) 
Depreciation and amortization -   - 
Other material non-cash items     
- gains from extraordinary transactions 
- loss of associates / JVs accounted for using 
the equity method 
 

- impairment of non-financial assets 

175,0 
 

(132,3) 
 

(88,0) 

 
 
 
 

(325,5) 

 175,0 
 

(132,3) 
 

(413,5) 
     
Segment result (424,4) (313,5) (520,9) (1.258,9) 
     
Total segment assets 1.881,7 9.359,5 147,1 11.388,3 
Total segment liabilities (129,8) (862,4) (1.092,6) (2.084,8) 

 
 

 
 As at 31 December 2020 (Euro/000) 
 Industrial 

process 
Distribution Corporate Total 

     
Revenues from external customers     
 
Interest income 

 
 

123,7 
 

0,3 

 123,7 
 

0,3 
Interest expense (8,0) (46,1)  (54,1) 
Depreciation and amortization (16,3)   (16,3) 
Other material non-cash items     
- impairment of non-financial assets 
- loss of associates / JVs accounted for using 
the equity method 

(102,8) 
 

(320,4) 

  (102,8) 
 

(320,4) 

     
Segment result (596,9) (109,1) (292,9) (998,9) 
     
Total segment assets 2.081,3 3,0 428,7 2.513,0 
Total segment liabilities (598,7) (531,4) (917,3) (2.047,2) 
     

6 Business combination 
 

On 23 September 2021, IGEA completed the combination with BSNR by way of a share capital increase from TEUR 252,2 
to TEUR 3.329,2 by issuing, at par, 307.700.514 new shares with a nominal value of EUR 0,01 each. The new shares were 
issued to the shareholders of BSNR exclusively, against contribution in-kind of 34.188.946 shares in the share capital of 
BSNR, representing 99,38% of the share capital and the votes in BSNR. The newly issued 307.700.514 shares of IGEA 
were listed on 27 September 2021. 
The combination qualifies as a reverse acquisition in scope of IFRS 3 and has been accounted for accordingly. 
The fair value of the consideration effectively transferred by BSNR has been measured based on the most reliable measure, 
ie the market price of the entity acquired, which is IGEA (SIX stock closing price on 23 September 2021: CHF 0,39; 
exchange rate CHF/Euro: 0,93). 
The above value has been calculated based on: 

• the market price of IGEA’s shares at the date of the combination (CHF 0,39 per share, or Euro 0,36 per share); 

• multiplied by the number of shares of the newly combined entity owned by the former IGEA shareholders 
(25.218.883 shares); 



 

 

and quantified in Euro 9.147 thousands. 
In a reverse acquisition in the scope of IFRS 3, the acquisition method should be applied even if the legal parent is the 
accounting acquiree. This means that goodwill is measured as the excess of the fair value of the deemed consideration 
transferred over the fair value of the accounting acquiree’s identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. 
In the consolidated financial statements of IGEA as of 31 December 2021, the fair values of the identifiable net assets 
acquired in the business combination are based on the provisional fair values available at the time of the acquisition. The 
difference between the purchase consideration transferred over the preliminary fair value of the net assets acquired has 
been provisionally recognized as goodwill. 
The fair value of the net assets acquired and the resulting amount of any goodwill will be finalized no later than 12 months 
from the acquisition date. Goodwill, as the residual, is not finally determined until the fair value exercise is complete. 

 
 Euro/000 
Cash and equivalents                    59,4 
Intangible assets                  325,5 
Financial assets                  180,0 
Other current assets                  140,9 
Financial liabilities (125,0) 
Trade, other payables and accruals (380,4) 
Net identifiable assets acquired                  200,4 
Minus: negative NCI                    29,0 
Goodwill               8.917,5 
Total purchase consideration               9.146,9 
  

7 Revenues 
 

The Group derives revenue from the transfer of goods at a point in time in the ‘Industrial processing’ segment (Euro 103,3 
thousands). There were no asset and liabilities related to contract with customers. 
 

8 Material profit and loss items 
 

The Group has identified and listed separately the following items due to the significance of their nature and/or amounts to 
provide a better understanding of the financial performance for 2021 and 2020. 
 2021 2020 

Impairment of non-financial assets                                                   (325,5)     (102,8) 
Impairment of financial assets                                                            -              - 
Share of net result of associates and joint ventures accounted for using 
the equity method 

                                                  (132,3)     (320,4) 

Impairment of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the 
equity method 

                                                    (88,0)  
Net gain/(loss) from early termination of lease agreements                                                   -        3,8  
Total material items from continuing operations                                                  (635,4)     (419,4) 

 
− Impairment losses. The caption includes (a) the full impairment of the rights owned by the Group to ensure protection of 
the e-commerce distribution of ‘Alz1’ in the US (please refer to Note 13 for further details), and (b) the impairment charge 
recorded at year end with respect to the value of the investment in the associate ATI Biotech Srl (Euro 88 thousands). 
− Share of net result of associates and joint ventures. In 2021, the share in the net result of Blue Sky Swisse SA, a joint 
venture the Group entered together with Pharma Tech Holding SA in 2019, generated a further loss of Euro 132,3 thousands 
(previous year: Euro 320,4 thousands). 

 

9 Other income and expense items 
 

 2021 2020 

Other income from associates                                                         -        93,5 
Other income from related parties                                                          -        39,8 
Other income                                                   179,9         5,7 



 

 

Total other income                                                  179,9       139,0 
 
 

  
 

Other expenses -             - 
Total other expenses -              - 
   

In current year, Blue Sky Lycopene Srl (previously held at 100%) was merged into ATI Biotech Srl, a private company 
incorporated under the laws of Italy. As a result of the merger, the Group exchanged its equity instruments of Blue Sky 
Lycopene with a 20% shareholding in ATI Biotech. The gain generated from the exchange (Euro 175,0 thousands) was 
recognized as other income. 
 

10 Breakdown of expenses by nature 
 

 Breakdown by nature 
 2021 2020 

Products and services (266,4) (353,5) 
Travel expenses - (34,2) 
Corporate services (520,9) (186,1) 
Facilities, rent and other occupancy expenses (3,3) (32,5) 
General and administration (218,3) (19,1) 
Depreciation - (16,2) 
Impairment charges on intangible assets (325,5) (102,8) 
Impairment charges on investments in associates / joint ventures (88,0) - 
Employee benefit expenses (5,7) (89,5) 
Total      (1.428,1)     (833,9) 

 
Reported as: 

Cost of sales (126,2) (163,9) 
Research and development (148,9) (132,1) 
Sales and Marketing (0,2) (14,2) 
General and administration (1.152,8) (523,7) 

Total      (1.428,1)     (833,9) 
 

The Group discloses all costs directly related to the revenue generation - regardless of the actual activity level - as ‘Cost of 
sales’. 
As of 31 December 2021, the Group employed a total of 1 person (full time equivalent) and the average number of 
employees was 1 (previous year: 2). All employees work outside of the Netherlands. 
 

11 Finance income and costs 
 2021 2020 

Interests on cash equivalents 
Foreign exchange gains 

2,3 
22,6 

- 
0,3 

Finance income 24,9 0,3 

Interest on financial debts (6,5) (54,1) 
Foreign exchange losses - (53,6) 
Finance costs (6,5) (107,7) 

Finance result, net 18,4 (107,4) 
   

12 Deferred taxes 
 

The Group did not capitalize any deferred tax asset relating to tax loss carry-forwards and temporary differences since the 
criteria for recognition are unmet. The gross value of unused tax losses which have not been capitalized as deferred tax 
asset amount to Euro 885,4 thousands (2020: 1.658,0 thousands). 
 



 

 

13 Intangible assets 
The e-commerce distribution of ‘Alz1’ in the US in the second half of 2019, for which the Group owns certain rights to 
ensure protection and freedom to operate, did not grow up as expected. At the beginning of 2020, the Group diversified to 
the wholesale distribution, entering an exclusive partnership with Belgian based Acalis group while maintaining own 
distribution right. The delay experimented by the Group in 2021 in ensuring the necessary funds to relaunch the ‘Alz1’ e-
commerce distribution and further integrating the non-bound copper detection-based pipeline with the diabetes type II 
prevention set (‘Dbt2’) was considered a trigger for impairment, based on which the management decided to fully impair 
the value of the Group's protection rights (Euro 325,5 thousands as of 31 December 2021). 
 

14 Financial instruments 
 

 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 1.1.2020 
Financial assets at amortized cost 
 

   

       Trade receivables                                                                                                                                                       12,5 1,5 136,1 
       Loans and receivables towards related parties 130,0   
       Cash and cash equivalents 17,1 88,6 

 
64,0 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  - 397,3 
 

1.085,5 

Total financial assets 159,6 487,4 1.285,6 
 
Financial debts 

 
1.092,6 

 
1.187,8 

 
1.095,8 

Trade and other payables 698,3 686,5 456,9 
Lease liabilities 
 

  205,0 

Total financial liabilities 1.791,0 1.874,2 1.757,8 
 

The Group’s exposure to risks associated with the financial instruments is disclosed under note 21. 
 
 
14.1 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
  31.12.2021 31.12.2020 1.1.2020 

Unpaid share capital and premium from related parties - 397,3 1.085,5 
Total  - 397,3 1.085,5 
Reported as: 

 
Non-current 

 
 

- 

 
 

- 

 

Current - 397,3 1.085,5 
Total - 397,3 1.085,5 
 
In 2021, there were no amounts recognized in profit or loss deriving from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. 
The 2020 amount was related to receivables towards shareholders who had subscribed share capital in 2020 and 
subsequently contributed with cash payments in 2021. 
 
 
14.2 Trade receivables 
 
  31.12.2021 31.12.2020 1.1.2020 

Trade receivables 125,3 16,2 24,0 
Trade receivables towards related parties - - 125,3 
Provision for doubtful accounts (112,8) (14,7) (13,2) 
Total  12,5 1,5 136,1 
 
Due to the short-term nature of the trade receivables, their carrying amount is considered to be the same as their fair value. 
 
 
14.3 Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents refer to cash at banks exclusively and amount to Euro 17,1, 88,6 and 64,0 thousands as at 31 



 

 

December 2021, 31 December and 1 January 2020 respectively. 
 
 
14.4 Financial debts 
 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 1.1.2020 

Loans from related parties 415,8 486,2 658,5 
External borrowings 51,3 104,4 - 
Liabilities from contingent considerations 519,9 485,9 437,3 
Fixed rate loans under the UK 'Bounce Back Loan' scheme 105,6 111,2 - 
Total 1.092,6 1.187,8 1.095,8 

 
Reported as: 

Non-current 

 
 

590,1 

 
 

1,175,4 

 
 

1.095,8 
Current 502,5 12,3  

Total 1.092,6 1.187,8 1.095,8 
 
The movements of loans from related parties are disclosed in Note 24. 
Loans and other financial instruments from external parties are as follows: 
 2021 2020 
External borrowings   
Beginning of year 104,4 - 
Change in consolidation area (104,4) - 
Increase of financial liability 51,3 104,4 
Reimbursement of financial liability - - 
Exchange rate difference - - 
Interest charged (paid) - - 
End of year 51,3 104,4 
 
 
Liabilities from contingent considerations 
 

  

Beginning of year 485,9 437,3 
Change in consolidation area - - 
Increase of financial liability - 76,0 
Reimbursement of financial liability - - 
Exchange rate difference 34,0 (27,5) 
Interest charged (paid) - - 
End of year 519,9 485,9 
 
 
Fixed rate loans under the UK 'Bounce Back Loan' scheme 
 

  

Beginning of year 111,2 - 
Change in consolidation area - - 
Increase of borrowing facility - 111,2 
Reimbursement of borrowing facility (13,3) - 
Exchange rate difference 7,7 - 
Interest charged (paid) - - 
End of year 105,6 111,2 
 
 
14.5 Trade and other payables 
 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 1.1.2020 

Trade payables 662,6 108,4 294,0 
Trade payables towards related parties 24,4 - 4,1 
Advances received for future issuance of equity instruments - 546,2  
Payables to employees - 25,2 11,1 
Tax authorities (for items not related to income tax) 1,8 - 20,0 
Other 9,4 6,7 127,7 
Trade and other payables 698,3 686,5 456,9 

 
Trade payables are unsecured and are usually paid between 30 and 90 days of recognition. The fair value of trade payables 
is considered to be the same as their carrying amounts, due to their short-term nature. 



 

 

 

15 Accruals 
 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 1.1.2020 

Products and services 2,0 6,4 14,7 
Corporate services 262,0 155,7 99,9 
Other 29,8 11,1 9,8 
Total Accruals 293,8 173,2 124,4 
 
 
Accruals are usually settled within 90 days from recognition and their carrying amounts is considered to be the same as 
their fair values due to their short-term nature. 
 

16 Inventories 
 
 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 1.1.2020 

Raw materials 933,2 872,4 906,3 
Products for resale 50,8 90,1 89,2 
Write downs (69,6) (48,5) (48,3) 
Total 914,4 914,0 947,2 
 
Raw materials refer to vegetable matrices, mainly frozen hemp flowers, ready to be industrially treated for extraction of 
cannabidiol and other components. 
 

17 Other current assets 
 
The composition of the caption is as follows: 
 31.12.2021 31.12.2020 1.1.2020 

Receivables from tax authorities 177,5 100,3 51,3 
Advance payments   2,4 
Caution deposits 1,2   
Other 4,4 3,5 1,2 
Total 183,2 103,8 54,8 
 

18 Share capital 
As a result of the reverse acquisition of IGEA and BSNR, the number and type of equity interests issued reflects the equity 
structure of the legal parent (IGEA), including the equity interests IGEA issued to effect the combination. 

As at 31 December 2021, the issued share capital amounts to Euro 3.347.225, consisting of: 

• the issued equity interest of IGEA outstanding immediately before the business combination, that is n. 25.218.883 
fully paid-up shares with a par value of EUR 0.01 each (Euro 252.188); 

• 307.700.514 fully paid-up shares with a par value of EUR 0.01 each, issued to effect the combination (Euro 
3.077.005); 

• 723.544 ordinary shares of IGEA, with a nominal value of EUR 0,01 each (Euro 7.235), resulting from the 
conversion (in Q4 2021) of a tranche of non-interest-bearing convertible notes subscribed by Negma Group; 

• 1.079.509 ordinary shares of IGEA, with a nominal value of EUR 0,01 each (Euro 10.795), resulting from the 
full conversion (in Q4 2021) of  non-interest-bearing convertible notes subscribed by CHI BV (in 2020) and 
Pharma Tech Holding SA (in 2021). 

For prior periods (before the reverse acquisition) the equity structure is that of BSNR. However, the disclosure of the 
number and type of equity instruments issued to support that equity value is restated to reflect the equity structure of IGEA, 
using the exchange ratio established in the acquisition agreement. 

Accordingly, the issued share capital of BSNR as of 31 December 2020 (n. 34.235.500 shares) is equivalent to n. 
308.119.500 IGEA shares with a nominal value of Euro 3.081.195 (Euro 0,01 each). 



 

 

The issued share capital of BSNR as of 31 December 2019 (n. 34.031.000 shares) is equivalent to n. 306.279.000 IGEA 
shares with a nominal value of Euro 3.062.790 (Euro 0,01 each). 
 

19 Reserves 

 
 

(*) The figure is related to the share capital increase completed by BSNR in Q2 2021, for a total amount of GBP 552,0 
thousands (share capital + share premium). 

(**) On 15 April 2021, IGEA entered into a convertible notes facility with Negma Group Ltd ("Negma Group"). For 
amounts drawn under the convertible notes facility, IGEA issues to Negma Group convertible notes with a duration of 12 
months each. Negma Group may choose to convert such convertible notes into a specified number of shares in IGEA within 
the 12 months timeframe. In particular, the unsecured, non-interest bearing convertible notes will be settled by IGEA 
delivering n. 7.201.350 newly issued shares for an overall cash amount of Euro 750 thousands (drawn down during 2021). 
Consequently, the draw downs of the convertible notes have been recognized as equity components. 

The amounts drawn under the above facility (and recognized as equity components) total Euro 750 thousands as of 31 
December 2021, of which: 

- Euro 250 thousands were drawn down in the first semester 2021. In relation to such drawdowns, (a) in July 2021, Negma 
Group has requested the conversion of a first tranche of the Convertible Notes (Euro 50 thousands) resulting in the issuance 
(and subsequent listing) of 170,114 shares, and (b) in October 2021, Negma Group has requested the conversion of a further 
tranche of convertible notes (Euro 200 thousands), relating to 723.544 ordinary shares of IGEA Pharma N.V. with a nominal 
value of EUR 0,01 each; 

- Euro 350 thousands drawn down in Q3 2021 (before the business combination), for which Negma Group has requested 
the conversion in December 2021 and April 2022, relating to 3.307.692 ordinary shares of IGEA Pharma N.V. with a 
nominal value of EUR 0,01 each; 

- Euro 150 thousands drawn down in Q4 2021 (after the business combination), for a portion of which (Euro 50 thousands) 
Negma Group has requested the conversion in April 2022, relating to 2.000.000 ordinary shares of IGEA Pharma N.V. with 
a nominal value of EUR 0,01 each. 

(***) The amount pertains to: 

- the conversion of a tranche of non-interest-bearing convertible notes subscribed in 2021 by Negma Group into 723.544 
ordinary shares of IGEA, with a nominal value of EUR 0,01 each (Euro 7.235), as explained above; 

- the full conversion (in Q4 2021) of non-interest-bearing convertible notes subscribed by CHI BV (in 2020) and Pharma 
Tech Holding SA (in 2020 and 2021) into 1.079.509 ordinary shares of IGEA, with a nominal value of EUR 0,01 each 
(Euro 10.795). 

Each draw down under these convertible notes facilities had been recognized as equity component (specifically: Euro 468,9 
thousands in 2020, Euro 305,0 thousands in 2021) - at the time of the conversion (Q4 2021), the nominal amount of the 

Share premium Other reserves Translation 
reserve Total

Balance at 31 December 2019                          837,2                       349,9 -                         13,2                      1.173,9 
Currency translation differences -                         17,6 -                         17,6 
Share of other comprehensive result of associates and joint 
ventures -                       12,5 -                         12,5 

Transactions with minorities -                         0,1 -                            0,1 
Premium of issuance of new BSNR shares (class "J" and 
"K")                          602,3                         602,3 

Balance at 31 December 2020                      1.439,5                       337,3 -                         30,8                      1.746,0 

Currency translation differences                         116,2                         116,2 
Issuance of  new BSNR shares, net of cost (classes "A" to 
"L") (*)                          681,9                         681,9 

Premium on issuance of shares to effect the BSNR-IGEA 
combination                    14.559,7                   14.559,7 

Conversion of non-redeemable loans, convertible into 
IGEA shares only (Q4 2021) (**) -                          18,0 -                         18,0 

Issuance of non-redeemable loans, convertible into IGEA 
shares only (Q4 2021) (***)                          150,0                         150,0 

Balance at 31 December 2021                    16.813,1                       337,3                            85,4                   17.235,8 



 

 

issued shares (Euro 18,0 thousands) was reclassified from reserves to share capital. 
 

20 Losses per share 
 

 
Basic and diluted losses per share are computed as follows: 

 
2021 

 
2020 

restated 

Net loss attributable to owners of the parent (1.247,4) (998,9) 
Weighted average number of shares outstanding 314.455.998 307.199.250 

Basic loss per share     (0.0040)         (0.0032) 
 

Diluted loss per share          (0.0040)         (0.0032) 
 

In a reverse acquisition, the financial statements of the combined entity reflect the capital structure of the legal acquirer 
(IGEA), including the equity interests issued in connection with the reverse acquisition. Consistent with this financial 
statement presentation, the computation of EPS is also based on the capital structure of IGEA, and the comparative figure 
has been restated accordingly. 
 

21 Cash flow information 
 
 

Net cash flow from operations 
 
 

 
 

22 Financial risk management 
 

The Group is exposed to the following financial risks, controlled pursuant to the Group’s risk management rules. The Group 
does not hold derivative financial instruments. 

 
 Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will face difficulties to meet obligations when due. Liquidity risk management 
implies maintaining enough liquidity in adequate form to meet financial obligations when due. The liquidity sources of the 
Group are represented by its cash and cash equivalents position of Euro 17,1 thousands (2020: Euro 88,6 thousands) and 
the additional funds the Group was able to ensure as further described in note 4 ‘Critical estimates and judgements’, granting 
herewith the necessary liquidity reserve until revenues will reach - if ever - such an adequate level to generate cash in the 

2021 2020

Result before income tax, including discontinued operations -1.258,9 -998,9 
Adjustments for:
 Depreciation and amortization 0,0 16,2
 Impairment of intangible assets (including goodwill) 325,5 102,8
 Impairment of financial assets 0,0 0,0
 Share of loss of associates and joint ventures 132,3 320,4
 Other items without cash effect -87,0 -3,9 
 Unrealized exchange differences -20,6 
 Items with cash effects of investing nature 0,0
 Items with cash effects of financing nature 54,1
Changes in operating assets and liabilities: 
 (Increase)/decrease in inventories -0,4 -33,2 
 (Increase)/decrease in trade receivables -11,0 134,6
 (Increase)/decrease in other assets 61,6 -49,0 
 (Increase)/decrease in trade and other payables -368,6 229,6
 Increase in accruals 120,6 48,8
Cash flow from operations -1.085,9 -199,1 



 

 

manner necessary to sustain the Group operation. Consequently, the Group is exposed to significant liquidity risk. The 
management maintain detailed financial forecasts and monitors actual results on a regular basis so that measures can be 
taken to ensure the Group remains solvent. The tables below show the contractual maturities of the Group’s financial 
liabilities at reporting date. 

 
 0-6 

months 
6-12 

months 
1-2 

years 
3-5 

years 
over 

5 years 

Financial debts 439,1 63,4 83,4  506,7 

Trade and other payables 698,3      

Accruals 293,8      

As at 31 December 2021 1.431,2 63,4 83,4  506,7 

      

Financial debts  165,0   14,9   404,1  53,2   605,7  
Trade and other payables  108,4   -     -     -     -    
Accruals  173,2   -     -     -     -    
As at 31 December 2020 

 446,6   14,9   404,1   53,2   605,7  
 

 Credit risk 
Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents and trade receivables (no financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss are owned by the Group at 31 December 2021). The actual Group activity does not require the maintenance of an active 
risk management. The maximum credit risk exposure of the Group is limited to the carrying amounts of its financial assets, 
amounting at the reporting date to Euro 159,6 thousands (2020: Euro 487,4 thousands). The risk on sales to wholesale 
customers is limited and of no material relevance and is for the time being not assessed or monitored. E-commerce sales 
are generally settled using major credit cards, mitigating credit risk. Credit risk on cash and cash equivalents is mitigated 
using relationships with primary banks. 

 
 Capital risk 
The Group’s objectives in managing capital are to grant the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to get 
return for shareholders and to maintain a capital structure that optimize cost of capital. The instruments for achieving an 
optimal capital structure depends for the time being on external factors not entirely under the Group’s control. The Group 
explores constantly the market conditions for opportunities to raise funds and optimally structure its capital. Neither the 
Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements. 

 
 Market risk 
Foreign exchange 
Foreign exchange risk arises from future transactions and recognized financial assets and liabilities not denominated in the 
Group’s functional currency. The actual level of the Group activities does not require an active management of the foreign 
exchange risks different from maintaining currency correlation between financial asset and liabilities and the Group does 
not considers relevant shifts in the exchange rates of all involved currencies as a realistic scenario. The Group net exposure 
to foreign currency risk at the end of the reporting period was as follows: 

 
 

The sensitivity of profit or loss to exchanges in the exchange rates indicates that a variation of 5% in the GBP/EUR and 
GBP/CHF ratio compared to the 2021 year-end status would have an impact of +/- Euro 0,3 thousands on the financial assets 
and of +/- Euro 43,8 thousands on the financial liabilities (compared to an impact of +/- Euro 23,0 thousands on the financial 
assets and +/- Euro 28,9 thousands on the financial liabilities had the same variation been applied on the year-end status 
2020). 

The management considers that the actual level of the Group activities does not require an active management of the foreign 
exchange risks and that a relevant shift in the exchange rates of the involved currencies is not a realistic scenario. 

USD EUR GBP CHF USD EUR GBP CHF

Total financial assets -                    151,4              8,2                    -                   23,3                 126,0              
Total financial liabilities -                    752,5              1.043,8          -                   68,5                 327,6              43,1                 8,9                    
NET -             601,1-         1.035,6-      -            45,2-           201,6-         43,1-           8,9-             

20202021



 

 

Other market risks 

The Group is not exposed to interest rate, security prices or any other market derived risk. 
 

23 Interests in associates and joint ventures 
 
Set out below are the associates and joint ventures of the Group as at 31 December 2021. The entities have share capital 
consisting solely of ordinary shares, which are held directly by the Group. The country of incorporation or registration is 
also their principal place of business, and the proportion of ownership interest is the same as the proportion of voting rights 
held. 
  
 Joint ventures 

Ownership interest 
Name Country Consolid. 2021 2020 
Blue Sky Swisse SA Switzerland equity 50% 50% 

 
The reconciliation of the aggregate carrying value from opening to closing balance is as follows: 
  2021 2020 

Opening balance                                                                                                                                                              1.007,8             263,5 
Investment in associates and JVs 214,9          1.132,2 
Share of result                                                                                                                                                                              (132,3)           (320,4) 
Share of other comprehensive result                                                                                                                                                    -              (12,5) 
Exchange rate effect                36,4           (55,0) 
Total           1.126,7         1,007,8 

 
 Associates 

Ownership interest 
Name Country Consolid. 2021 2020 
ATI Biotech Srl Italy equity 20% // 

 
In December 2021, Blue Sky Lycopene Srl (previously held at 100%) was merged into ATI Biotech Srl, a private company 
incorporated under the laws of Italy. As a result of the merger, the Group exchanged its equity instruments of Blue Sky 
Lycopene with a 20% shareholding in ATI Biotech.  
The gain generated from the transaction (de-recognition of previous interest held and recognition of the fair value of the 
interest acquired) amounted to Euro 175,0 thousands and was recognized as other income. At year end, an impairment 
charge of Euro 88,0 thousands was recorded in reduction of the value of the investment in the associate ATI Biotech Srl. 
 
 Commitments in respect of associates and joint ventures 
The Group’s industrial processing activities are carried-out in Blue Sky Swisse SA, in which the Group has an ownership 
interest of 50%. For 2022, the joint venture activities are expected to generate a cash need of Euro 7.5 million., to be 
financed by way of convertible notes or equity issuance of IGEA Pharma as already resolved by the AGM in April 2021.  
The non-binding commitment by the Group to provide funding for the joint venture’s capital for 2022 amounts to Euro 4.5 
million (previous period: Euro 3,9 million). 
 
 Summarized financial information for associates and joint ventures 
The tables below provide the summarized financial information for associates and joint ventures that are material to the 
Group. The information disclosed reflects the amounts presented in the financial statements of the relevant associates and 
joint ventures and not the Group’s share of those amounts. They have been amended to reflect adjustments made by the 
entity when using the equity method, including fair value adjustments and modifications for differences in accounting 
policy. 
 



 

 

  
 

24 Contingent liabilities 
 

For contingent liabilities relating to associates and joint ventures, refer to note 23. 
  
 Capital commitments 
The Group does not have capital expenditures contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not recognized as 
liabilities (same as previous period). 

 
 

 Short term and low value leases 
The expenses deriving from short-term and low value leases during 2021 amounted to Euro 3,3 thousands (2020: Euro 58,9 
thousands). 
 

25 Related party transactions 
Related parties also include Directors as well as other key management. The following transactions were carried out with 
related parties: 

 
 Board and key management compensation 

2021 2020 

Compensation of board members              (82,1) (14,0) 
Compensation of other key management              - (25,6) 
Total            (82,1)          (39,6) 

 

The compensation of board members for 2021 includes the compensation of IGEA board members since the consolidation 
date of 23 September 2021, for an overall amount of Euro 28,0 thousands (the detailed compensation disclosures are 
provided in the remuneration report Note 5 of the Corporate Governance Report), and the full year compensation of the 
sole Director of BSNR and UTE (Euro 54,1 thousands). 

None of the board members is an employee of the Group. Services are delivered under consulting contracts with the 
involved person or with entities of which the involved person is a related party. 
For 2021 no key management personnel other than the Directors of the Group Companies is identified. 

 

Summarized statement of financial position 2021 2020

Non current assets 3.921,1          2.744,8          
Current assets 534,1              619,5              

-                    -                    
Non current liabilities 4.423,0          2.946,5          
Current liabilities 356,4              454,8              

-                    -                    

Net assets 324,3-         37,0-           

Summarized statement of comprehensive income 2021 2020

Revenue 57,3                 11,6                 
Depreciation and amortization 30,5-                 -                    
Impairment charges -                    -                    
Interest income (expense) 17,9                 0,4                    
Income tax -                    -                    

Result of the period 303,1-              226,1-              
Other compreensive result -                    -                    

Total comprehensive result 303,1-         226,1-         

BS Swisse

BS Swisse



 

 

 Transactions with other related parties 

There were no transactions with other related parties during 2021 (previous period: convertible loan agreement entered in 
April 2020 with C.H.I. B.V., a major shareholder of the Company, for Euro 400 thousands) except for the following. 
On 31 March 2021 and 30 September 2021, respectively, IGEA entered into convertible loan agreements with Pharma Tech Holding 
SA ('Pharma Tech'), a major shareholder of the Company, under which Pharma Tech has the right to request the conversion of the 
loans into a specified number of shares. Through the conversion of the two convertible loan agreements with Pharma Tech, IGEA 
would have to issue 184,247 and 323,834 new shares to Pharma Tech. Pharma Tech has requested the conversion of its convertible 
loans. In connection with such conversion request, IGEA's board of directors has resolved on 25 October 2021, inter alia, to issue the 
requested shares out of the existing capital authorizations to cover Pharma Tech's conversion rights under the convertible loans. 

 
 Year-end balances towards related parties 
The following balances are outstanding at the end of the reporting period in relation to transactions with related parties: 
 2021 2020 

Trade receivables - - 
Loans and receivables to associates and JVs 130,0 - 
Issued, but still not paid-in capital and premium - 397,3 
Total assets 130,0 397,3 
Financial liabilities towards related parties 415,7 485,7 
Other payables 45,1 - 
Total liabilities 460,8 485,7 

 
The financial assets are related a short-term non-interest bearing advance payment made in 2021 by IGEA in favour of 
Blue Sky Suisse, to be re-imbursed in 2022. 
The financial liabilities towards related parties refer to: 

• short term un-guaranteed non-interest bearing facility granted to Universal Trade Elite Ltd by Pharma Tech 
Holding SA (Euro 387,8 thousands as of 31 December 2021); 

• short term borrowings from BSNR Directors (Euro 27,9 thousands as of 31 December 2021). 
The movements of loans and/or other financial instruments to/from related parties are as follows: 
 2021 2020 
Financial assets towards related parties   
Beginning of year 397,3 1.085,5 
Calls on partly paid shares 
Finance receivables granted to associates 

(397,3) 
130,0 

(665,7) 
- 

Interest charged (paid)  - 
Exchange rate difference - (22,5) 
End of year 130,0 397,3 
 
Financial liabilities towards related parties 
 

  

Beginning of year 486,2 658,5 
Change in consolidation area - - 
Increase of borrowing facility 27,6 - 
Reimbursement of borrowing facility (131,2) (144,7) 
Exchange rate difference 33,2 (27,7) 
Interest charged (paid) - - 
End of year 415,7 486,2 
 
 

  

26 Events after the balance sheet date 
 

• As mentioned in note 4 - ‘Ability to continue operations’ and elsewhere in this Annual Report, the Group entered 
on April 2021 into a convertible bond commitment with Negma Group Ltd that will make available, within the 
next 2 years, up to EUR 2 million, now extendable up to EUR 10 million since the Combination has been 
completed, for IGEA to use at its discretion in pursuing its business programs. The commitment is structured in 
zero coupon note tranches subject to Company’s drawdown, convertible into newly issued shares of IGEA at a 
strike of 93% of the stock market. 

• The Group therefore will have granted the funds management requires essential to operate the business as expected 
and to meet its obligations as they fall due at least through 31 December 2022, and hence these consolidated 



 

 

financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. However, the ability of the Group to start 
generating revenues and consistent cash flows to adequately support its operations remains still uncertain, and this 
exposes the Group to all the risks inherent in establishing a business.  

• The amounts drawn under the above facility total Euro 750 thousands as of 31 December 2021. Additional Euro 
250 thousands were drawn down on 10 January 2022. 

• In addition to the Negma facility, the Group is securing other means of financing and it has signed a preliminary 
commitment by LMH Holding, an Italian family office, to provide up to 6.0 million in new capital to fund the 
joint-venture in Blue Sky Swisse.  

   
• Given the gradual easing of the COVID-19 lockdown restrictions as well as the programs of several governments 

to return economic activities to normal levels, at the date of publication of these financial statements, the Group 
is not aware of any potentially adverse effect COVID-19 could have on the Group’s activities during 2022. The 
Group concluded that there is no material uncertainty that may cast a significant doubt upon the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern.



 

 

Section IV – Company-only financial statements 
 
 
Statement of financial position (*) 

(in thousand Euro, unless otherwise stated) 
 

 
 
(*) After appropriation of result 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ASSETS Notes 31.12.2021 31.12.2020

Intangible assets 3                           8.917,5               321,2                  

Investments 4                           667,9                  

Financial assets 5                           212,4                  50,3                     

Non current assets 9.797,8               371,5                  

Inventories -                       7,6                       

Trade receivables 6                           10,2                     35,7                     

Other assets 7                           131,1                  56,0                     

Cash and cash equivalents 8                           4,2                       90,4                     

Current assets 145,5                  189,7                  

-                       

Total assets 9.943,2               561,1                  

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Share capital 3.347,2               250,5                  

Reserves 12.426,0            4.983,9               

Accumulated loss 6.169,8-               5.057,2-               

Total shareholders' equity 9                           9.603,3               177,1                  

Trade and other payables 10                        234,6                  157,2                  

Financial debts 11                        -                       117,2                  

Accruals 12                        105,3                  109,7                  

Current liabilities 339,9                  384,1                  

Total equity and liabilities 9.943,2               561,1                  



 

 

 
 
Income statement 
(in thousand Euro, unless otherwise stated) 
 

 
 
 

INCOME STATEMENT

Notes 2021 2020

Revenues -                       68,6                     

Cost of sales 13                        9,4-                       83,6-                     

Gross result 9,4-                       15,0-                     

Research and development 13                        13,4-                     42,4-                     

Sales and marketing 13                        0,8-                       105,6-                  

General and administration 13                        584,8-                  389,9-                  

Impairment charges on intangible assets 3                           307,4-                  

Intangibles amortization 4                           13,4-                     27,9-                     

Other income -                       281,4                  

Other expenses -                       234,2-                  

Operating result 929,1-                  533,5-                  

-                       

Finance result, net 14                        84,5                     147,2                  

Result before income tax 844,6-                  386,4-                  

-                       

Income tax expense -                       1,7-                       

Share in results of investments 4 5 268,0-                  465,1-                  

Result of the period 1.112,6-               853,1-                  



 

 

Notes to the Company Financial Statements 
 

1 General Information 
Please refer to Notes 1 and 2 to the consolidated financial statements. 
 
2 Basis of preparation 
The company’s financial statements of IGEA have been prepared in accordance with Part 9, Book 2 of the DCC with the 
application of sub 8 of article 362 allowing the use of the same accounting principles as applied for the consolidated financial 
statements. These accounting principles are described in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
These financial statements have been prepared on a going concern and on a historical cost basis. 
The Directors have elected to change the Company's presentation currency from USD to Euro effective from 1 January 
2021. The change in presentation currency is a voluntary change which is accounted for retrospectively. All other accounting 
policies are consistent with those adopted in the annual financial report for the year ended 31 December 2020. 
The financial statements have been restated to Euro using the procedures outlined below: 

• Income Statement has been translated into Euro using average foreign currency rates prevailing for the relevant 
period; 

• Assets and liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position have been translated into Euro at the closing foreign 
currency rates on the relevant balance sheet dates; 

• The equity section of the Statement of Financial Position, including foreign currency translation reserve, retained 
earnings, share capital and the other reserves, have been translated into Euro using historical rates. 

The exchange rates used were as follows: 
 
USD/Euro 2021 2020 2019 
Closing rate 0,88     0,81     0,89 
Average rate 0,85 0,88 // 

 
All figures included in these financial statements and notes are rounded to the Euro thousands, except when otherwise 
indicated. 
In these company-only financial statements, consolidated interests and associates over which significant influence is 
exercised are carried at net asset value. Goodwill is not included in the net asset value of the consolidated interests and 
associates, but is separately presented as part of the intangible fixed assets. 
The carrying values of the investments with a negative equity are deducted from any long-term loan towards the related 
subsidiary. 
Provisions are formed for subsidiaries with negative net asset value in the amount the negative net asset value exceed the 
value of the financial assets, only if and to the extent that the investor legal entity has guaranteed all or part of the liabilities 
of the participating interest or has a constructive obligation to ensure that the participating interest will pay (its share) of its 
liabilities. 
In case no other policies are mentioned, please refer to the accounting policies as described in the summary of significant 
accounting policies in the consolidated financial statements of IGEA presented elsewhere in this Annual Report. For an 
appropriate interpretation, the Company financial statements should be read in conjunction with these consolidated financial 
statements. 
 

3 Intangible assets 
Patents and similar rights 

Year ended 31 December 2020: 
Opening net book amount - 
Additions 359,7 
Disposals - 
Amortization charges (27,9) 
Currency translation effects           (10,6) 
Closing net book amount   321,2  

 



 

 

 

Year ended 31 December 2021: 
Opening net book amount                                                                                                                                                                             321,2 
Impairment charge on intangible assets (307,4) 
Amortization charges (13,4) 
Currency translation effects             (0,4) 
Closing net book amount           -  

 
The Company acquired certain intellectual property rights beginning of 2020 from its US based subsidiary IGEA Research 
Corp. Amortization expenses are equal to Euro 13,4 thousands (2020: 27,9 thousands). 
The e-commerce distribution of ‘Alz1’ in the US in the second half of 2019, for which the Group owns the above mentioned 
rights to ensure protection and freedom to operate, did not grow up as expected. At the beginning of 2020, the Group 
diversified to the wholesale distribution, entering an exclusive partnership with Belgian based Acalis group while 
maintaining own distribution rights. 
The delay experimented by the Group in 2021 in ensuring the necessary funds to relaunch the ‘Alz1’ e-commerce 
distribution and further integrating the non-bound copper detection-based pipeline with the diabetes type II prevention set 
(‘Dbt2’) was considered a trigger for impairment, based on which the management decided to fully impair the value of the 
Group's protection rights (Euro 307,4 thousands as of 31 December 2021). 
 
Goodwill 
In August 2020, IGEA entered a letter of intent, binding in terms, with Blue Sky Natural Resources LTD (“BSNR”), to 
combine the two companies’ businesses. 
On 28 April 2021, the extraordinary General Meeting of IGEA approved the resolution of the Board to enter the combination 
and resolved to appoint the Board to issue up to a maximum of 309,600,000 new shares at par, reserved for issuance to the 
shareholders of BSNR only, to finalize the combination. 
On 23 September 2021, IGEA completed the combination by way of a share capital increase from Euro 252.2 to Euro 
3,329.2 thousands by issuing, at par, 307,700,514 new shares with a nominal value of Euro 0.01 each (nominal value: Euro 
3.077.005). 
The new shares were issued to the shareholders of BSNR exclusively, against contribution in-kind of 34,188,946 shares in 
the share capital of BSNR, representing 99.38% of the share capital and the votes in BSNR. 
IGEA paid for the BSNR shares solely by issuing the new shares. For each BSNR share, regardless of its class, IGEA offered 
nine new shares. 
The newly issued 307,700,514 shares of IGEA were listed on 27 September 2021. 
This transaction qualifies as a reverse acquisition, and has been accounted for according to its economic form, where the 
acquiring party (from an accounting perspective: BSNR) is the same as in the consolidated financial statements. 
The investment in the accounting acquirer (BSNR) has been included in these separate financial statements based on its 
carrying values as determined for inclusion in the consolidated financial statements. 
The value of the net assets, as above defined, at the date of the combination (23 September 2021), is quantified in Euro 
811,4 thousands, as detailed below. 
 
 Euro/000 
Cash and equivalents                    13,5 
Investments                  1.256,2 
Other current assets                  7,5 
Financial liabilities (216,0) 
Trade, other payables and accruals (249,7) 
Net identifiable assets acquired                  811,4 
  
The assets and liabilities of the accounting acquiree (IGEA), designated as an acquiree for inclusion in the consolidated 
financial statements, have been remeasured to their fair value. Given the nature of such items, no fair value adjustment has 
been applied at the date of the combination. The net assets amount to Euro 229,4 at the date of the combination. 
Goodwill has been recognized as the difference between the net assets of IGEA (as above determined) and the acquisition 
price, as determined for inclusion in the consolidated financial statements. 
The acquisition price, as determined for inclusion in the consolidated financial statements, is equal to the fair value of the 
issued IGEA shares at the date of the combination (SIX stock closing price on 23 September 2021: CHF 0,39; exchange 
rate CHF/Euro: 0,93). The above value has been calculated based on: 



 

 

• the market price of IGEA’s shares at the date of the combination (CHF 0,39 per share, or Euro 0,36 per share); 

• multiplied by the number of shares of the newly combined entity owned by the former IGEA shareholders 
(25.218.883 shares); 

and quantified in Euro 9.146,9 thousands. 
Goodwill amounts to Euro 8.917,5 thousands and is separately presented as part of the intangible fixed assets. 
 
 Euro/000 
Acquisition price 9.146,9 
IGEA net assets 229,4 
Goodwill                  8.917,5 
 
Its movements in 2021 are as follows: 
 

At beginning of period (1.1.2021) 

 

- 
Initial recognition (23 Sep 2021) 8.917,5 
Impairment charges  - 
Exchange differences - 
At end of the period 8.917,5 

 

4 Investments 
The following legal entities are direct subsidiaries of IGEA: 
 
 
Name Country Consolid. 2021 2020 
Blue Sky Natural Resources LTD UK full 99.38% // 
IGEA Research Corporation United States full 98.67% 98.67% 

 
The movements of the equity investment in BSNR acquired on 23 September 2021 (as detailed in Note 3) are as follows: 
  

2021 

At beginning of period - 
Initial recognition (23 Sep 2021) 811,4 
Share in result of investment (143,5) 
Exchange differences - 
At end of the period 681,3 

 
The subsidiary IGEA Research Corporation carries a negative equity, therefore the carrying value of the investment is 
deducted from the value of the borrowings in favour of the subsidiary (see next Note 5). 
 

5 Financial assets 
The caption is composed as follows: 
 2021 2020 
 
Loans and receivables towards related parties (BS Swisse) 

 
130,0 

 
- 

Net asset value of investment in IGEA Research Corporation (Miami, Florida, US) 82,4 50,3 
Total 212,4 50,3 

 
The loans and receivables towards related parties are related to a short-term non-interest bearing advance payment made in 
2021 by IGEA in favour of Blue Sky Suisse, to be re-imbursed in 2022. 
The movements in the net asset value of the investment are as follows: 
 
 



 

 

  
2021 

 
2020 

At beginning of period 50,3 355,1 
Borrowings to subsidiaries, net 156,5 5,9 
Capitalized interests - 148,2 
Share in result of investment (124,5) (465,1) 
Exchange differences 0,1 6,2 
At end of the period 82,4 50,3 
 
 

  

6 Trade receivables 
  2021 2020 

Trade receivables 2,0 27,5 

Trade receivables toward related parties 8,2 8,2 
               
Total 10,2              35,7 

 

7 Other assets 
  2021 2020 

Receivables towards tax authorities (for items not related to income tax) 88,6 56,0 
Advance payments   42,5                      - 

 
Total 131,1            56,0 

 

8 Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents refer to cash at banks exclusively, amounting to Euro 4,2 thousands (2020: 90,4 thousands). 
 

9 Shareholder’s equity 
 

 
 
Share capital 

As a result of the reverse acquisition of IGEA and BSNR, the number and type of equity interests issued reflects the equity 
structure of the legal parent (IGEA), including the equity interests IGEA issued to effect the combination. 

As at 31 December 2021, the issued share capital amounts to Euro 3.347.225, consisting of: 

• the issued equity interest of IGEA outstanding immediately before the business combination with BSNR, that is 
n. 25.218.883 fully paid-up shares with a par value of EUR 0.01 each (Euro 252.188) - such figure includes 
170.114 ordinary shares of IGEA, with a nominal value of EUR 0,01 each (Euro 1.701), resulting from the 
conversion (in Q3 2021, before the business combination) of a tranche of non-interest-bearing convertible notes 

Share capital Reserves Accum. loss Total

Balance at 31 December 2019 250,5                 4.460,0             4.204,1-             506,4                 

Result of the period 853,1-                 853,1-                 
Currency translation differences 35,3                   35,3                   
Non redeemable loans, convertible in shares only 488,5                 488,5                 
Balance at 31 December 2020 250,5                 4.983,9             5.057,2-             177,1                 

Issuance of shares to effect the BSNR-IGEA combination 3.077,0             6.651,9             9.728,9             
Result of the period 1.112,6-             1.112,6-             
Currency translation differences 0,1-                      0,1-                      
Non redeemable loans, convertible in shares only 19,7                   790,3                 810,0                 

Balance at 31 December 2021 3.347,2             12.426,0           6.169,8-             9.603,3             



 

 

subscribed by Negma Group; 

• 307.700.514 fully paid-up shares with a par value of EUR 0.01 each, issued to effect the combination (Euro 
3.077.005); 

• 723.544 ordinary shares of IGEA, with a nominal value of EUR 0,01 each (Euro 7.235), resulting from the 
conversion (in Q4 2021) of a tranche of non-interest-bearing convertible notes subscribed by Negma Group; 

• 1.079.509 ordinary shares of IGEA, with a nominal value of EUR 0,01 each (Euro 10.795), resulting from the full 
conversion (in Q4 2021) of  non-interest-bearing convertible notes subscribed by CHI BV (in 2020) and Pharma 
Tech Holding SA (in 2021). 

 
Reserves 

On 31 March 2021 and 30 September 2021, respectively, IGEA entered into convertible loan agreements with Pharma Tech 
Holding SA ('Pharma Tech'), a major shareholder of the Company, under which Pharma Tech has the right to request the 
conversion of the existing loans into a specified number of shares. Through the conversion of the two convertible loan 
agreements with Pharma Tech, IGEA would have to issue 184,247 and 323,834 new shares to Pharma Tech. 

On 15 April 2021, IGEA entered into a convertible notes facility with Negma Group Ltd ("Negma Group"). For amounts 
drawn under the convertible notes facility, IGEA issues to Negma Group convertible notes with a duration of 12 months 
each. Negma Group may choose to convert such convertible notes into a specified number of shares in IGEA within a 12 
months timeframe. In particular, the unsecured, non-interest bearing convertible notes will be settled by IGEA delivering n. 
7.201.350 newly issued shares for an overall cash amount of Euro 750 thousands (drawn down during 2021). 

In Q3 and Q4 2021, Negma Group has requested the conversion of a portion of its convertible loans. In Q4 2021, Pharma 
Tech has requested the full conversion of its convertible loans.  

In connection with such conversion requests, IGEA's board of directors has resolved to issue the requested shares out of the 
existing capital authorizations to cover Pharma Tech's and Negma's conversion rights under the convertible loans. 

The convertible loan agreements subscribed with Pharma Tech and Negma in 2021 (and previously, in 2020, with CHI BV) 
grant the rights to the counterparts to convert, at any time, certain non-interest bearing, unsecured and non-redeemable loans 
into specified numbers of newly issued shares of IGEA. Consequently, the draw downs of the convertible notes are 
recognized as equity components. 

The amounts drawn under the above facilities (and recognized as equity components) during 2021 total Euro 810 thousands, 
of which: 

• Euro 250 thousands from Negma Group in the first semester 2021. In relation to such drawdowns, (a) in July 
2021, Negma Group has requested the conversion of a first tranche of the Convertible Notes (Euro 50 thousands) 
resulting in the issuance (and subsequent listing) of 170,114 shares, and (b) in October 2021, Negma Group has 
requested the conversion of a further tranche of convertible notes (Euro 200 thousands), relating to 723,544 
ordinary shares of IGEA Pharma N.V. with a nominal value of EUR 0,01 each, as explained above; 

• Euro 350 thousands drawn down in Q3 2021 (before the business combination), for which Negma Group has 
requested the conversion in December 2021 and April 2022, relating to 3.307.692 ordinary shares of IGEA Pharma 
N.V. with a nominal value of EUR 0,01 each; 

• Euro 150 thousands drawn down in Q4 2021 (after the business combination), for a portion of which (Euro 50 
thousands) Negma Group has requested the conversion in April 2022, relating to 2.000.000 ordinary shares of 
IGEA Pharma N.V. with a nominal value of EUR 0,01 each. 

• Euro 60 thousands from Pharma Tech in Q3 2021. 
 

Reconciliation of consolidated equity with IGEA standalone equity 

The following table summarizes the reconciliation of the IGEA standalone equity and result with the corresponding Group 
figures (for the year 2021). Considering a business combination took place in 2021, a comparative reconciliation on the 
2020 figures is not possible. 
 

 
 

Equity reconciliation Result Equity
Stand alone (1.112,6) 9.603,3
Exclude result 2021 IGEA and IGEA Research Stand Alone Pre-Acquistion 552,6 -
Include Result 2021 BSNR Pre-Aquistion (687,4) -
Consolidated (before NCI) (1.247,4) 9.603,3



 

 

10 Trade and other payables 
 

 2021 2020 

Trade payables 210,2 144,0 
Trade payables toward related parties 24,4 13,2 
Total 234,6 157,2 

 
11 Financial debts 
The movement in financial debts is as follows: 

  
2021 

 
2020 

At beginning of period 117,2 36,8 
Increase (decrease) in borrowings (75,3) - 
Increase (decrease) in borrowings from related parties - - 
Trade payables - financial debts reclassification (41,9) 75,4 
Capitalized interest on financial debts - 1,5 
Exchange differences - 3,5 
At end of the period - 117,2 

 
 

12 Accruals  
 

2021 2020 

Services 2,1                4,3 
Corporate services 103,2 95,6 
Other      - 9,8 
Total 105,3 109,7 

 

 
 

13 Breakdown of expenses by nature  
 

2021 2020 
 

Products and services (122,7) (199,5) 
Travel expenses                                                                                                                                                     (14,0) (71,9) 
Corporate services (467,9) (340,9) 
Facilities, rent and other occupancy expenses (1,4)   (3,0) 
General & administration (2,3) (6,2) 

 

Total   (608,3)    (621,5) 
 

Reported as: 
Cost of sales (9,4) (83,6) 
Research and development (13,4) (42,4) 
Sales and marketing (0,8) (105,6) 
General and administration (584,8) (389,9) 

Total   (608,3)     (621,5) 
 

As of 31 December 2021, the Company has no employees and the average number of employees was 0 (previous year: 0).  
 
 

14 Finance result, net  
 

2021 2020 
 

Interest income 86,9 146,1 
Foreign exchange gains - 4,4 
Finance income 86,9 150,5 

Interest expense - (1,7) 
Foreign exchange losses (2,4) (1,6) 
Finance cost (2,4) (3,3) 

Finance result, net 84,5 147,2 



 

 

15 Auditor’s fee 

The total of the auditing fees for the year 2021 amounts to EUR 60,5, of which Mazars, including network firms, in their 
capacity as Group auditors, receive the full amount (2020: EUR 82,1). No additional fees were charged by Mazars for tax 
matters related services (2020: EUR 7,3). 

 

16 Related party transactions 
 

 Board and key management compensation 

The compensation of the Executive Directors was respectively for Vincenzo Moccia and Rosanna Squitti, acting as CEO-
CFO (ad interim) and CSO of IGEA, amount to KEUR 60 and KEUR 26,8 for the full year 2021 (previous year: KEUR 61,7 
and KEUR 27,6). The compensation was in fixed form only. No additional fees and remunerations have been charged to the 
Group by any parties closely linked to the CEO or the CSO for additional services during 2021, nor was the CEO or the CSO 
respectively entitled to any fringe benefit. 

The overall remuneration of the Non-Executive Directors of IGEA for the year 2021amounts to KEUR 16,4 (previous year: 
nil). 

None of the board members is an employee of the Group. Services are delivered under consulting contracts with the involved 
person or with entities of which the involved person is a related party. 

No key management personnel other than the Directors of the Group Companies is identified. 
 

 Transactions with other related parties 

There were no transactions with other related parties during 2021 (previous period: convertible loan agreement entered in 
April 2020 with C.H.I. B.V., a major shareholder of the Company, for Euro 400 thousands) except for the following. 

On 31 March 2021 and 30 September 2021, respectively, IGEA entered into convertible loan agreements with Pharma Tech 
Holding SA ('Pharma Tech'), a major shareholder of the Company, under which Pharma Tech has the right to request the 
conversion of the loans into a specified number of shares. Through the conversion of the two convertible loan agreements 
with Pharma Tech, IGEA would have to issue 184,247 and 323,834 new shares to Pharma Tech. Pharma Tech has requested 
the conversion of its convertible loans. In connection with such conversion request, IGEA's board of directors has resolved 
on 25 October 2021, inter alia, to issue the requested shares out of the existing capital authorizations to cover Pharma Tech's 
conversion rights under the convertible loans. 

 
 Year-end balances 
The Company has trade receivables towards related parties for Euro 8,2 thousands (previous year: Euro 8,2 thousands) and 
trade and other payables towards related parties for Euro 24,4 thousands (previous period: Euro 13,2 thousands). 
The Company has finance receivables towards related parties for Euro 130 thousands (previous year: none), related to a 
short-term non-interest bearing advance payment made in 2021 by IGEA in favour of Blue Sky Suisse, to be re-imbursed 
in 2022, and a loan granted to its subsidiary IGEA Research for a net amount of Euro 82,4 thousands (prior year: Euro 50,3 
thousands). Please refer to Note 5 for further details. 

 
 Transactions with subsidiaries 
No material transactions with subsidiaries occurred during 2021 (previous year: acquisition of certain intellectual property 
rights form its US-based subsidiary IGEA Research Corp. for Euro 359,7 thousands). 

 

17 Events after the balance sheet date 
Please refer to note 26 of the Company’s consolidated financial statements. 

 

18 Proposed appropriation of result for the year 
The Board proposes to carry forward the loss of the year. 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

19 Signing of the financial statements 
These financial statements have been signed by the members of the Board of Directors on 28 September 2022. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Francesco Mario Patrocollo 
Chairman of the Board, non-executive director 
 
 

Vincenzo Moccia 
CEO, Executive director 

 



 

 

 
 
Section V – Other information 
 

1 Other disclosures in accordance with Dutch law requirements 
 

  
 1.1 Profit appropriation according to the Articles 

The Board of Directors proposes to carry forward the loss of the year. 

Distribution of dividends pursuant to article 10.1 will take place after the adoption of the Annual Accounts which shows that the 
distribution is allowed. 

The company may make distribution on Shares only to the extent that its shareholder’s equity exceeds the sum of the paid up 
and called-up part of the capital and the reserves which must be maintained by law or the Articles. 

The Board may resolve to reserve the profits or part of the profits. 

The profit remaining after application of article 10.1.3 will be at the disposal of the General Meeting. 
  
  
 1.2 Branch establishments 

The Company has a branch establishment registered under Italian law with trade name ‘IGEA Pharma BV’. 

 

2 Independent auditor’s report 



Mazars Accountants N.V. with its registered office in Rotterdam (Trade register Rotterdam nr. 24402415) 

 

 

 

 

 

Watermanweg 80 

P.O. Box 23123 

3001 KC Rotterdam 

The Netherlands 

T: +31 88 277 13 92 

onno.opzitter@mazars.nl 

 

Independent auditor’s report 
 

 

To the shareholders and board of directors of  

IGEA Pharma N.V. 

 

 

Report on the audit of the financial statements 2021 included in the annual report 

Our opinion 

We have audited the financial statements 2021 of IGEA Pharma N.V. based in Amsterdam. The financial 

statements comprise the consolidated and company financial statements.  

 

In our opinion:   

• the accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial 

position of IGEA Pharma N.V. as at 31 December 2021 and of its result and its cash flows for 2021 

in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union 

(EU-IFRS) and with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.  

• the accompanying company financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of 

IGEA Pharma N.V. as at 31 December 2021 and of its result for 2021 in accordance with Part 9 of 

Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.   

 

The consolidated financial statements comprise:   

1. the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021;  

2. the following statements for 2021:the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statements 

of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows; and  

3. the notes comprising a summary of the significant accounting policies and other explanatory 

information.   

 

The company financial statements comprise:   

1. the company balance sheet as at 31 December 2021;  

2. the company profit and loss account for 2021; and  

3. the notes comprising a summary of the accounting policies and other explanatory information.  
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Basis for our opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch law, including the Dutch Standards on Auditing. Our 

responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 'Our responsibilities for the audit of the 

financial statements' section of our report.  

 

We are independent of IGEA Pharma N.V. in accordance with the Wet toezicht accountantsorganisaties 

(Wta, Audit firms supervision act), the Verordening inzake de onafhankelijkheid van accountants bij 

assurance-opdrachten (ViO, Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, a regulation with respect to 

independence) and other relevant independence regulations in the Netherlands. Furthermore we have 

complied with the Verordening gedrags- en beroepsregels accountants (VGBA, Dutch Code of Ethics).   

 

We believe the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 

opinion.  

 

 

Information in support of our opinion 

We designed our audit procedures in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole and 

in forming our opinion thereon. The following information in support of our opinion and any findings were 

addressed in this context, and we do not provide a separate opinion or conclusion on these matters.  

 

 

Materiality 

Based on our professional judgement we determined the materiality for the financial statements as a 

whole at € 37,000. The materiality is based on 1.5% of total assets excluding the goodwill. We have also 

taken into account misstatements and/or possible misstatements that in our opinion are material for the 

users of the financial statements for qualitative reasons. 

 

We agreed with the board of directors that misstatements in excess of € 1,853, which are identified 

during the audit, would be reported to them, as well as smaller misstatements that in our view must be 

reported on qualitative grounds. 

 

 

Scope of the group audit 

IGEA Pharma N.V. is at the head of a group of entities. The financial information of this group is included 

in the consolidated financial statements of IGEA Pharma N.V. 
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Considering our ultimate responsibility for the group audit, we are responsible for the direction, 

supervision and performance of the group audit. In this context we have determined the nature and 

extent of the audit procedures for components of the group. Determining factors are the significance 

and/or risk-profile of the group entities or activities. We have performed audit procedures ourselves 

directly on the group entities. 

 

By performing the procedures mentioned above at group entities, we have been able to obtain sufficient 

and appropriate audit evidence about the group’s financial information to provide an opinion about the 

consolidated financial statements. 

 

 

Audit response to the risks of fraud  

We identified fraud risk factors with respect to financial reporting fraud, misappropriation of assets and 

corruption. We evaluated if those factors may indicate a risk of material misstatement in the financial 

statements due to fraud. During our audit we had special attention for the risks of management override 

of controls. We identified this risk primarily for accounting estimates where judgement and assumptions 

are involved, such as the valuation of the goodwill of the reversed acquisition, for which we refer to our 

key audit matters.  

 

 

Non-compliance with laws and regulations  

We have obtained an understanding of the relevant laws and regulations. We have identified the 

following laws and regulations that have an indirect effect on the financial statements:  

 

We held enquiries with management and the audit committee if the entity is compliant with laws and 

regulations which directly or indirectly have a material impact on the financial statements. We also 

inspected relevant correspondence with regulatory authorities, such as the local authorities for Food and 

Consumer Product Safety, Consumers and Markets and the local Data Protection Authorities. We also 

inspected lawyers’ letters and remained alert to indications of (suspected) non-compliance throughout 

the audit, held enquiries with legal counsel, and obtained a written representation from management that 

all known instances of (suspected) non-compliance with laws and regulations were disclosed to us. 

 

  



 

 

63 

 

 

Our observation 

Our audit procedures did not reveal indications or reasonable suspicion of fraud and/or non-compliance 

that are considered material to the financial statements.  

 

 

Our key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our 

audit of the financial statements. We have communicated the key audit matters to the board of directors. 

The key audit matters are not a comprehensive reflection of all matters discussed.  

 

 

Reverse acquisition  

On 23 September 2021 IGEA completed the combination with Blue Sky Natural Resources ltd. The 

combination qualifies as a reverse acquisition in scope of IFRS 3 and has been accounted for 

accordingly. We have examined the position paper prepared by the board of directors regarding this 

matter and reviewed the accounting treatment for this business combination. We assessed the goodwill 

resulting from this transaction. Furthermore we examined the disclosures in the financial statements on 

this matter.  

 

We refer to note 6 business combination of the consolidated financial statements for further disclosure of 

the business combination by the board of directors.  

 

 

Financing 

The board of directors has prepared an assessment regarding the going concern basis of preparation of 

the financial statements which is based on a detailed cash flow forecast. A key assumption in the cash 

flow forecast concerns the secured external financing of up to € 10 million obtained from Negma Group 

in April 2021. We have examined the conditions and covenants of the finance agreement including the 

creditworthiness of the borrower.  

We refer to note 4 critical estimates and judgements of the consolidated financial statements for further 

disclosure of the risk and uncertainties regarding the ability to continue as a going concern.  
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Report on the other information included in the annual report 

The annual report contains other information, in addition to the financial statements and our auditor's 

report thereon. Based on the following procedures performed, we conclude that the other information: 

● is consistent with the financial statements and does not contain material misstatements;  

● contains all the information regarding the management report and the other information as required 

by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.    

 

We have read the other information. Based on our knowledge and understanding obtained through our 

audit of the financial statements or otherwise, we have considered whether the other information 

contains material misstatements.  

 

By performing these procedures, we comply with the requirements of Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil 

Code and the Dutch Standard 720. The scope of the procedures performed is substantially less than the 

scope of those performed in our audit of the financial statements.  

 

Management is responsible for the preparation of the other information, including the management report 

in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code and other information as required by Part 9 

of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.  

 

 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 

Engagement 

We were engaged by the board of directors as auditor of IGEA Pharma N.V. on 20 December 2018, as 

of the audit for the year 2018 and have operated as statutory auditor ever since that financial year. 

 

 

No prohibited non-audit services  

We have not provided prohibited non-audit services as referred to in Article 5(1) of the EU Regulation on 

specific requirements regarding statutory audit of public-interest entities.  
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Description of responsibilities regarding the financial statements  

Responsibilities of the board of directors for the financial statements 

The board of directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements 

in accordance with EU-IFRS and with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. Furthermore, the board of 

directors is responsible for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 

preparation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 

error.  

 

As part of the preparation of the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 

company's ability to continue as a going concern. Based on the financial reporting frameworks 

mentioned, management should prepare the financial statements using the going concern basis of 

accounting, unless management either intends to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or has 

no realistic alternative but to do so. 

The board of directors should disclose events and circumstances that may cast significant doubt on the 

company's ability to continue as a going concern in the financial statements. 

 

The board of directors is responsible for overseeing the company's financial reporting process. 

 

 

Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objective is to plan and perform the audit engagement in a manner that allows us to obtain sufficient 

and appropriate audit evidence for our opinion.  

 

Our audit has been performed with a high, but not absolute, level of assurance, which means we may not 

detect all material errors and fraud during our audit.  

 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 

aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 

basis of these financial statements. The materiality affects the nature, timing and extent of our audit 

procedures and the evaluation of the effect of identified misstatements on our opinion. 

 

We have exercised professional judgement and have maintained professional scepticism throughout the 

audit, in accordance with Dutch Standards on Auditing, ethical requirements and independence 

requirements.  
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Our audit included among others:  

● identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 

to fraud or error, designing and performing audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 

obtaining audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk 

of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 

error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 

override of internal control;  

● obtaining an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 

opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control;  

● evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by management;  

● concluding on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting, 

and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 

conditions that may cast significant doubt on the company's ability to continue as a going concern. If 

we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's 

report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 

modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 

auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause a company to cease to continue as 

a going concern. 

● evaluating the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 

disclosures; and  

● evaluating whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 

manner that achieves fair presentation.   

 

Because we are ultimately responsible for the opinion, we are also responsible for directing, supervising 

and performing the group audit. In this respect we have determined the nature and extent of the audit 

procedures to be carried out for group entities. Decisive were the size and/or the risk profile of the group 

entities or operations. On this basis, we selected group entities for which an audit or review had to be 

carried out on the complete set of financial information or specific items. 

 

We communicate with the board of directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 

timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant findings in internal control that 

we identify during our audit. In this respect we also submit an additional report to the audit committee in 

accordance with Article 11 of the EU Regulation on specific requirements regarding statutory audit of 

public-interest entities. The information included in this additional report is consistent with our audit 

opinion in this auditor's report. 
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We provide the board of directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 

requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters 

that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

 

From the matters communicated with the board of directors, we determine the key audit matters: those 

matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements. We describe these matters 

in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in 

extremely rare circumstances, not communicating the matter is in the public interest. 

 

Rotterdam, 19 October 2022 

 

Mazars Accountants N.V.  

 

Original has been signed by: O. Opzitter RA 


